# PRESERVICE TEACHERS' SOCIOPOLITICAL CONSCIOUSNESS IN LIGHT OF THE RACIAL

# DISPARITIES HIGHLIGHTED BY THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

A Dissertation

presented to

the Faculty of the Graduate School

at the University of Missouri-Columbia

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Philosophy

by

R. TANNER OERTLI

Dr. Laura Zangori, Dissertation Supervisor

DECEMBER 2022

The undersigned, appointed by the dean of the Graduate School, have examined the dissertation entitled

# PRESERVICE TEACHERS' SOCIOPOLITICAL CONSCIOUSNESS IN LIGHT OF THE RACIAL DISPARITIES HIGHLIGHTED BY THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC

presented by R. Tanner Oertli, a candidate for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of Learning, Teaching, and Curriculum Emphasis in Science Education, and hereby certify that, in their opinion, it is worthy of acceptance.

Professor Laura A. Zangori

Professor Patricia Friedrichsen

Professor Tony Castro

Professor Laura B. Cole

# Dedication

To Claire, Anderson, and Crew, I know this path was not always easy, thank you for all

your support. I would have never been able to finish this without you.

To my Mom and Dad, thank you for always believing in me.

## Acknowledgements

Thanks to Dr. Laura Zangori for your unending support and picking me up every time I wanted to give up. Had it not been for you, I would have never finished.

Thanks to Dr. Patricia Friedrichsen for mentoring me and encouraging my work in teaching through socioscientific issues.

Thanks to Dr. Tony Castro for challenging my thinking about race and social justice.

Thanks to Dr. Laura Cole for your flexibility and willingness to be a part of my committee despite the distance.

Thanks to my mother-in-law, Jane Piester, for pushing me down this path and for all the days of babysitting and constant support.

And thank you to everyone else that has helped me along the way; turns out it takes a village to write a dissertation too.

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgementsii
Table of Figuresviii
Abstractxii
Chapter One: Introduction1
Scientific Literacy and Socio-Scientific Issues (SSI)
Sociopolitical Consciousness and Colorblind Ideologies5
Problem Statement7
Purpose of Study7
Positioning Myself
Research Questions9
Chapter Two: Literature Review 11
Introduction
Teaching with Socioscientific Issues11
Challenges of Preparing Teachers to Enact SSI Based Science Instruction
Socioscientific Issues and Preservice Teacher Education14
Teaching Frameworks
Strategies

Literature Review Conclusion
Theoretical Framing: Working Towards a Culturally Responsive SSI-TL Framework 30
Barriers to Enacting Culturally Responsive Education
Promoting Sociopolitical Consciousness and Challenging Colorblind Ideologies in
Preservice Teachers
Science Education and Social Justice
Culturally Responsive Science Education
Socioscientific Issues and Sociopolitical Consciousness
Socioscientific Issues Teaching and Learning for Social Justice Framework:
Promoting Sociopolitical Consciousness and Challenging Colorblind Ideologies 40
Summary 44
Summary

Data Collection5	57
Causal Map6	61
Data Analysis6	62
Color-Blind Racial Attitudes Scale – Socioscientific Issues.	62
Quantitative Assessment of Socio-Scientific Reasoning	63
Casual Map6	64
Linear Mixed-Effects Regression Modeling6	64
Chapter Four: Results	70
Did Preservice Teachers' Colorblind Ideologies Change?	70
Did Preservice Teachers' Socioscientific Reasoning Change?	74
Did Preservice Teachers' Sociopolitical Consciousness Change?	78
Can Preservice Teachers' Change in Sociopolitical Consciousness be Predicted? 8	83
Does Change in Sociopolitical Consciousness Transfer to Another Socioscientific	
Issue? 8	84
Summary 8	85
Chapter Five: Discussion 8	86
Summary of Findings	86
A Lack of Change in Preservice Teacher's Colorblind Ideologies	87

	A Lack of Change in Preservice Teacher's Socioscientific Reasoning Skills	89
	An Increase in Preservice Teacher's Sociopolitical Consciousness	90
	Predicting Preservice Teachers' Sociopolitical Consciousness	93
	Summary	94
	Limitations	95
	Conclusion	96
R	eferences	98
A	ppendix A	128
	Color-Blind Racial Attitudes Scale Scoring Information	128
	Adapted from	128
A	ppendix B	131
	Quantitate Assessment of Socio-Scientific Reasoning – Social Justice (QuASSR-SJ):	
	Fracking in Arlington, Texas	131
	Rubric	137
A	ppendix C	140
	Causal Map Example Given in Class	140
	SSI Causal Map Assessment	140
	Rubric	142

Vita 143
----------

# Table of Figures

Figure 1: Socioscientific Issues Teaching and Learning framework (SSI-TL)
Figure 2: Socioscientific Issues Teaching and Learning for Social Justice framework
(SSI-SJ)
Table 1: Intervention Outline
Figure 3: Example Concept Nodes Connected by a Causal Link
Table 2: Data Information
Equation 1: Generic Random Intercept LMER Model 66
Equation 2: Colorblind Ideology LMER Model
Equation 3: Socioscientific Reasoning LMER Model
Equation 4: Sociopolitical Consciousness LMER Model
Equation 5: Sociopolitical Consciousness LMER Model
Table 3: LMER Results for Change in Total Colorblind Ideology Scores Across the
Semester
Table 4: LMER Results for Change in Unawareness of Racial Privilege Scores Across
the Semester

Table 5: LMER Results for Change in Unawareness of Institutional Discrimination
Scores Across the Semester
Table 6: LMER Results for Change in Unawareness of Blatant Racial Issues Scores
Across the Semester
Table 7: LMER Results for Change in Unawareness of Environmental Racism Scores
Across the Semester
Table 8: LMER Results for Change in Total Socioscientific Reasoning Scores Across the
Semester
Table 9: One Tailed Paired T-Test Results for Change in Complexity Scores Across the
Semester
Table 10: LMER Results for Change in Inquiry Scores Across the Semester
Table 11: LMER Results for Change in Perspective Taking Scores Across the Semester
Table 12: LMER Results for Change in Skepticism of Media Scores Across the Semester
Table 13: LMER Results for Change in Skepticism of Science Scores Across the
Semester

Table 14: LMER Results for Change in Affordances of Science Scores Across the
Semester
Table 15: One Tailed Paired T-Test Results for Change in Limitations of Science Scores
Across the Semester
Table 16: LMER Results for Change in Sociopolitical Consciousness Causal Map Scores
Across the Semester
Figure 4: Change in Individual Preservice Teacher's Sociopolitical Consciousness Scores
Table 17: Summary of Types of Racial Justice Issues Included in PSTs' Causal Maps 81
Figure 5: PST 6's Post-Causal Map
Figure 6: PST 41's Post-Causal Map 82
Figure 7: PST 30's Post-Causal Map 82
Figure 8: PST 14's Pre and Post Causal Map Comparison
Table 18: LMER Results for Change in Sociopolitical Consciousness Causal Map Scores
Across the Semester; Predicted by Pre-SSR Component Scores and Pre-Colorblind
Ideology Component Scores

Table 19: One Tailed Paired T-Test Results for Change in PSTs' Inclusion of Race as	a
Considerations in QuASSR-SJ	. 85
Figure 9: Monarch Butterfly SSI Causal Map	140

## Preservice Teachers' Sociopolitical Consciousness in Light of the Racial Disparities Highlighted by the COVID-19 Pandemic

R. Tanner Oertli

Dr. Laura A. Zangori, Dissertation Supervisor

## Abstract

Socioscientific issues (SSI) such as COVID-19 and climate change often highlight the inequalities that structural racism creates. If we ever wish to equitably solve these issues, we require a population that has the scientific literacy and the sociopolitical consciousness to do so. Yet, the push for culturally relevant education has had little movement in science education, partially because of the acultural view of science but also from the colorblind ideologies often held by teachers. The purpose of this preexperimental study was to determine if a pre-service elementary science methods course that applies the SSI Teaching and Learning Framework for Social Justice promoted participant's sociopolitical consciousness, reduced their colorblind ideologies, and increased their socioscientific reasoning (SSR) skills. Linear mixed-effects regression models were run to assess these outcomes. Results indicate that preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies and socioscientific reasoning skills did not change through the semester. However, a statistically significant increase in their sociopolitical consciousness was found and this increase could be predicted by one of the components of SSR, perspective taking. Implications of these findings are discussed.

#### **Chapter One: Introduction**

White Americans were half as likely to die from COVID-19 when compared to other Races and Ethnicities at the onset of the pandemic (Garg et al., 2020). Despite this, reports showed that in many areas, White communities had more testing and vaccination sites when they became available (McMinn et al., 2020). Let us take a moment and ask the question; *why*? It is likely that health professionals added testing and vaccination sites in areas where established structures were pre-existing to efficiently test and vaccinate people. Since these structures were never adequately addressed in non-White communities prior to the COVID-19 pandemic and a critical critique of what this might mean for these communities was never made, we are left with perpetuated racism during the pandemic. No ill intent is required to perpetuate racism when the structures and foundations of our society are built on a racist past, only a blind eye is needed.

Racism exists in many sorts and remains one of the more pressing social issues of our time. Of particular concern to this dissertation is structural racism, the intricate tangle of past and present systems within all societal areas that produce, propagate, and sustain inequality along racial lines; predominately impacting Black individuals in the United States (Bailey et al., 2017). Also considered is Environmental racism, an offshoot of structural racism, defined as public policies and industry practices that disproportionately shift the negative impacts of pollution and environmental hazards to communities of color (Bullard, 2018). Throughout this dissertation, I use Kendi's (2019)

definition of racism as any policy or idea that supports racial inequities. Notably, this encompasses much more than what many White people might define racism, as an individual act or prejudice and includes the decisions made during the pandemic that caused further inequities.

Socioscientific issues (SSI) such as COVID-19 and climate change often highlight the inequities that structural racism and environmental racism create. The CDC contributes the inequitable results of COVID-19 to residential housing segregation, overrepresentation in jails and prisons, less access to healthcare, lack of paid sick leave, and over-representation in high infection risk occupations. Environmental racism has been identified as an additional variable increasing the impact of COVID-19, as it is well established that communities of Color are disproportionally exposed to air pollutants (Bell & Ebisu, 2012) which have been shown to increase transmission and death rates of COVID-19 (Ali & Islam, 2020). There are many more examples of inequities, creating an integrated web of complex and often compounding interactions.

If we ever wish to equitably solve these issues, we require a population that has the scientific literacy and the sociopolitical consciousness to do so. As with many problems in our society, teachers are at the forefront of solutions or regrettably, can also act as agents of perpetuation. To combat structural racism and address growing cultural diversity in the U.S. school system, educational reformers have argued for a comprehensive culturally responsive education for all students (Brown, 2017; Gay, 2002; Ladson-Billings, 1995b). Culturally responsive education can increase students'

sociopolitical consciousness, which is an individual's ability to identify and critique and the willingness to change the social norms that produce and maintain inequities in our society. However, science education has lagged in these efforts. This is often attributed to a lack of preparation in teacher education science method courses (Ferguson, 2008), the "acultural" view of science held by science teachers (Banks, 2016), and the predominantly White teaching force that generally lacks the sociopolitical consciousness needed to overcome barriers, such as their colorblind ideologies, of implementing culturally responsive practices.

Science education researchers and practitioners often see scientific literacy as the overarching goal of science education (Roberts, 2007). Scientific literacy is the ability to understand and apply science concepts and practices in contexts beyond the classroom. By overlapping the tenets of sociopolitical consciousness with scientific literacy goals, and asking future teachers to acknowledge their colorblind ideologies, science teacher educators can assist future teachers in developing an understanding and implementation of comprehensive culturally responsive education. An effective path for this to occur is through Socio-Scientific Issues-based teaching.

#### Scientific Literacy and Socio-Scientific Issues (SSI)

Scientific literacy is generally broken down into two distinct, yet interrelated goals known as vision I and vision II (Roberts, 2007). Vision I scientific literacy includes established science; knowledge of concepts and the practices associated with doing science. Vision I is well represented in the three-dimensional (disciplinary content

knowledge, science and engineering practices, and crosscutting concepts) learning of the Next Generation Science Standards (National Research Council, 2012; NGSS Lead States, 2013). Vision II scientific literacy is the ability to use the knowledge and skills established in vision I to solve real-world problems while considering other components beyond science (e.g., social, economic, political; Sadler & Zeidler, 2009).

Researchers have shown that teaching science through SSI's promotes vision I and II scientific literacy. SSIs are complex, often controversial, social issues that are conceptually, procedurally, and/or technologically connected with science (Sadler & Zeidler, 2005). Examples of SSIs include global warming, the antivaccination movement, antibiotic-resistant bacteria, and mining practices (e.g., fracking). Science skills and knowledge are needed to solve SSIs. However, because they are open-ended problems with multiple solutions and perspectives their resolution also requires social, political, moral, and/or economic considerations (Sadler, 2004a; Zeidler, 2003). When students engage with SSIs, they are more likely to understand the relevance of science to their lives (Stuckey et al., 2013) and can promote responsible citizenship (Evagorou & Dillon, 2020). For example, SSI instruction has shown to increase student understanding of science ideas (Dawson & Venville, 2010; Herman et al., 2019; Klosterman et al., 2012; Peel et al., 2019; Sadler, Romine, et al., 2016; Shoulders & Myers, 2013) and improve students' science practices (Kolstø et al., 2006; Peel et al., 2019; Venville & Dawson, 2010; Zangori et al., 2017). SSI instruction also improves students' ability to reason with SSIs (Justi & Mendonça, 2016; Sadler et al., 2007; Topçu et al., 2011; Wu & Tsai, 2007),

critical thinking and decision-making skills (Dolan et al., 2009; Evagorou et al., 2012), and helps improve moral, ethical, and character development (Fowler et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2006, 2013; Zeidler & Keefer, 2003). Additionally, some researchers found that SSI instruction has the potential to increase students' willingness to act on these issues (Herman, 2018; Zafrani & Yarden, 2017).

When students are engaging with an SSI, they are using socioscientific reasoning (SSR). SSR are the skills and knowledge required to navigate SSI's successfully. As described by Sadler et al. (2007), Sadler, Foulk, and Friedrichsen (2016), and Kinslow (2018), SSR is comprised of five interconnected competencies which are: (1) Recognizing and understanding the inherent *complexity* of the SSI; (2) Examining the issue through *multiple perspectives; (3)* Identifying aspects of the issue that require further *inquiry: (4)* Using *skepticism* when analyzing potentially biased information; and (5) Exploring the *affordances and limitations of science* regarding the issue. Not only are these competencies interconnected they have been found to be hierarchical with an understanding that SSIs are complex as the easiest competency which leads to the realization that SSI are difficult to resolve because choosing a resolution is impacted by the many different ideologies and motives of people involved.

## Sociopolitical Consciousness and Colorblind Ideologies

Beyond the primary utility notion of vision II science literacy, sociopolitical consciousness represents an individual's knowledge of and *willingness* to act in response to social considerations influencing society (Watts & Flanagan, 2007). Ladson-

Billings (1995b) explains sociopolitical consciousness as a means to challenge the cultural norms, values, and institutions that create and maintain social inequities. Considering the components of SSR, SSR has many attributes in common with how we might promote sociopolitical consciousness using SSIs that highlight structural and/or environmental racism. This can occur through SSI by Introducing data that shows disparate outcomes along racial lines, investigating the perspectives of different racial groups, providing opportunities for individuals to consider their own privilege with regards to the SSI, and develop resolutions that challenge the societal norms and structures that created the racial inequity in the first place. While science literacy and SSR enables students to be active participants in democracy, sociopolitical consciousness positions students as "justice oriented citizen" (Westheimer & Kahne, 2004). Once students have obtained a sociopolitical consciousness and a vision II scientific understanding of a socioscientific issue, they can critically examine the issue in an equitable manner.

Colorblind ideologies are in direct contrast to sociopolitical consciousness and create a barrier to culturally responsive teaching. Colorblind ideologies attempt to make nonracial explanations for racial inequalities (Bonilla-Silva, 2014). As such, an individual holding a colorblind ideology will be less likely to critically examine racism because they see the world as being post-racist and view racism as occurring infrequently and concretely, such as blatant racist attacks, and not as a larger system creating and maintaining inequalities between racial groups. In doing so, colorblind

ideologies perpetuate racist outcomes without sounding racist because they do not critically examine and challenge the underlying causes of these racial inequalities like an individual exhibiting sociopolitical consciousness might.

When considering SSIs, individuals with colorblind ideologies would look for alternative explanations other than race to explain inequalities. For example, an individual might use socioeconomic status to explain why Black and White communities experience different outcomes due to COVID-19 without considering the complex historical and current structures in place that created, maintain, and exacerbate socioeconomic differences between Black and White communities.

## **Problem Statement**

Socioscientific issues represent some of the most pressing yet difficult problems to solve in our society and they often impact People of Color disproportionately. If students are expected to gain a sociopolitical consciousness of how to resolve SSIs in a socially equitable way, preservice teachers need also hold these skills and knowledge. Additionally, if future educators are to teach science through SSI in a manner that challenges status quo inequalities, they will need to teach in culturally responsive ways. Two of the primary barriers to teaching in culturally responsive ways is teachers' colorblind ideologies and a lack of sociopolitical consciousness.

## Purpose of Study

The purpose of this study is to determine if a pre-service elementary teacher science methods course that frames teaching science through the SSI of COVID-19

promotes preservice elementary teachers' sociopolitical consciousness, challenges their colorblind ideologies, and increases their socioscientific consciousness.

## **Positioning Myself**

Given the focus of this project, I believe it is important to position myself. I am a White, middle class, cisgender, straight, and enabled bodied male. In sum - the epitome of what traditional education is geared towards. With this, I recognize the privilege that has helped me through my primary education, bachelor's degree in biology from the University of Montana (a state not known for its diversity), and my seven years as a high school science teacher. I also recognize the privilege that I continue to receive as a graduate student at the University of Missouri where I teach a section of the elementary science methods course. I am not new to the field of science education, but I am new to the field of culturally responsive education. However, I wish to start using my privilege to promote change toward a more equitable society.

I should also place my writing of this paper in context; when I was not writing, I was reading the news articles about the murder of George Floyd and the subsequent protests. As I read these articles and thought about similar acts of racism and the larger more complex structural racism in our society, I constantly struggled with my conceptualization of the following framework: "Is it enough? Is it right? Who am I to speak about racism as a White male? Am I inappropriately positioning people of Color as 'in need of saving'?". As a preservice science methods instructor holding these questions in mind, I envisioned this project to promote a much-needed sociopolitical

consciousness in individuals like myself; White, middle class, teachers. My goal is to that elevating sociopolitical consciousness within preservice teachers will better position them to use culturally responsive education.

## **Research Questions**

This project implemented a unit that guided preservice elementary teachers in the production of their own SSI based unit that focused on the coronavirus pandemic and the associated social inequalities highlighted by the pandemic and caused by current structures of racism in our country. I believe that in highlighting and reflecting on the impacts of structural racism, preservice elementary teachers will become more sociopolitical consciousness and it may challenge their colorblind ideologies as well as increase their socioscientific reasoning skills. I also acknowledge that decreasing preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies and increasing their socioscientific reasoning skills in such a short amount of time is not likely to change according to prior research. However, the novelty of this study in which PSTs were asked to reflect on their colorblind ideologies and sociopolitical consciousness of the COVID-19 pandemic while also experiencing the COVID-19 pandemic, requires a critical look at the ideas they hold and if the daily experiences of the pandemic impacted changes to their ideas. The following research questions guided the project:

 Do elementary preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies change while using an SSI unit across a semester?

- 2. Do elementary preservice teachers' socioscientific reasoning skills change while using an SSI unit across a semester?
- 3. Do elementary preservice teachers develop sociopolitical consciousness through an SSI unit across a semester? Can a change in sociopolitical consciousness be predicted by preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies and socioscientific reasoning skills?

#### **Chapter Two: Literature Review**

## Introduction

This study is situated within and attempts to combine two strands of literature: teaching science with socioscientific issues and culturally responsive education. These combined strands focused on challenging preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies and promoting their sociopolitical consciousness through engaging with socioscientific issues that highlight structural and/or environmental racism. The importance of this work is twofold; making education impactful beyond the walls of the classroom by employing issues based teaching practices and bringing science education further into the fight against structural and environmental racism.

## **Teaching with Socioscientific Issues**

Science education reform efforts have long sought to make science education relevant to students' everyday lives (Kuhn, 1993) and prepare students for responsible citizenship (Ramsey, 1993). One way science educators have achieved this is by teaching through socioscientific issues (SSI; Sadler & Zeidler, 2005). However, teacher beliefs are often the determining factor for the uptake of reform-based practices like SSI based instruction (Fletcher & Luft, 2011).

SSI based instruction is rarely found in curriculum materials or standards such as the Next Generation Science Standards (NGSS). Considering this, it is up to teachers to determine if/when/how SSI based instruction takes place. Cohen, Zafrani, and Yarden (2020) explained how teachers rely on standards to determine their instruction unless they feel passionate enough to teach SSIs on their own accord. These findings are supported by others who determined that when teachers used SSI based instruction, they did so because of their passions, values, and ideals that aligned with the approach (Hancock et al., 2019; Lee & Witz, 2009; Zangori et al., 2018).

However, even if teachers have these attributes to utilize SSI in their teaching, there are additional barriers to SSI implementation. For example, SSI lessons are typically longer than other lesson types (such as content only) as SSI lessons require ample student discussion about how the science content connects to sociopolitical elements. Therefore, teaching SSI does not fit within typical classroom time constraints, so SSI units are rarely completed. Also, since SSI lessons are typically developed by researchers and introduced through teacher professional development, there is a lack of widely available support materials (Pitpiorntapin & Topcu, 2016; Sadler et al., 2006) Some teachers shy away from SSI based instruction due to their controversial nature because they are uncomfortable holding what they consider as "non-science" discussions within their classrooms (Duschl et al., 2002). In addition, teachers hold a low self-efficacy for SSI based pedagogy as they do not think they have the knowledge to implement sociopolitical connections (Lee et al., 2006).

Teachers that do end up teaching SSIs do so in diverse ways depending on how they perceive the SSI and their teaching role. Reflecting on the traditional compartmentalization of school subjects, especially at the high school level, Tidemand and Nielsen (2017) found that secondary science teachers tend not to focus on the

societal aspects of SSIs and merely view SSIs as a means to teach science content. This could be because SSI require skills and knowledge often not utilized by science teachers (Simonneaux & Simonneaux, 2009). Alternatively, elementary teachers who are generalists and teach all subject areas, tend to perceive SSI as a method to foster responsible citizenship in their students (Friedrichsen et al., 2020) and as crosscurricular means to make science relevant to students' everyday lives (Zangori et al., 2018). Many researchers have identified elementary teachers' potential for SSI instruction as they are more comfortable implementing cross-curricular content which reflects the multidisciplinary nature of SSIs (e.g., Friedrichsen et al., 2020; Zeidler & Nichols, 2009).

## Challenges of Preparing Teachers to Enact SSI Based Science Instruction

There are many challenges in preparing teachers to enact SSI based science instruction. Leung, Wong, and Chan (2020) outline these challenges as including limited knowledge about SSIs, how to lead a discussion about controversial issues, and transferring from a focus on content knowledge that often has definite answers to SSIs that are complex, open-ended, and require value judgements. Additionally, Foulk (2019) identifies a lack of support materials which leaves teachers on their own to develop SSI curriculum or lack of specific pedagogical content knowledge that is required to successfully identify and utilize SSI.

Researchers have identified that overcoming barriers to implementing SSI units in classrooms can take teachers many years before they feel successful (Cohen et al., 2020; Friedrichsen et al., 2020; Furman et al., 2020; Tidemand & Nielsen, 2017). These barriers take so long to overcome for many reasons; for example, teachers require teaching experience before they are able to tackle SSIs on their own. However, if SSIs are introduced earlier within teacher education practice, then preservice and beginning teachers are provided support and time with a knowledgeable other to develop knowledge and skills to prepare them to include SSIs within their own classroom. Therefore, for teachers to uptake SSI's, teacher SSI development should begin in teacher education programs. Also supporting this claim; preservice and new teachers are more likely to change their beliefs (Crawford, 2007; Fletcher & Luft, 2011) and take up teaching SSIs over their veteran peers.

#### Socioscientific Issues and Preservice Teacher Education

SSI studies focused on elementary and secondary pre-service teachers (PST) vary across implementation (auxiliary and full-scale), supports (strategies and teaching frameworks), and outcomes (SSI knowledge/reasoning and teacher implementation). When SSI is included as an auxiliary component of the course, SSI instruction is merely added to existing courses (Borgerding & Dagistan, 2018; Forbes & Davis, 2008; Özden, 2015). Full-scale SSI implementation changes to course are extensive, resulting in a fullscale remodeling of a course to infuse SSI instruction throughout (e.g., Evagorou & Puig Mauriz, 2017; Foulk, 2019; Yerdelen et al., 2018). In either auxiliary or full-scale studies, support provided to PSTs range from simple strategies where teacher educators guide PSTs in their pedagogical skills and conceptions of SSI based science teaching. This is often done by modeling SSI based science instruction (e.g., Garrido Espeja & Couso, 2020) or using teaching frameworks. Frameworks are more involved and provide scaffolds that assist teachers in the development and implementation of SSI based instructional units/lessons such as the Socioscientific Teaching and Learning Framework (Foulk, 2019).

Most intervention studies focused on assessing PST on their understanding and reasoning of SSI as students rather than future teachers. Much fewer research studies provide interventions that support PSTs in their current/future teaching using SSI practices, thereby focusing on how PSTs integrate SSIs into their teaching practice. In sum, investigated outcomes fall into two categories; PSTs as students receiving SSI based science instruction and PSTs as teachers implementing SSI based science instruction. The following sections are used to review the relevant literature regarding SSI studies within teacher education programs with the above distinctions in mind.

#### Teaching Frameworks

General teaching and learning frameworks are typically taught in preservice teacher methods courses as they provide a scaffold for teachers to use in the development of curricular lessons/units within any content area. Teaching frameworks such as Bybee's (1997) 5E model (Engage, Explore, Explain, Extend, and Evaluate) is often used in science teacher education courses. The 5E model is a flexible, general science education teaching framework that guides teachers in the creation of lessons/units. It is important to have a flexible and generalizable framework, such as the

5E, because introducing PSTs to teaching science through an SSI approach is a difficult task. The generalizable framework provides the necessary flexibility with which to embed more specific frameworks for SSI teaching and learning.

Each "E" defines for preservice teachers what to do with their students (Bybee et al., 2006). Engage has the teacher introduce the topic to the students and gain an understanding of their prior knowledge and misconceptions. During the Explore phase teachers create opportunities for students to experience the phenomenon for themselves, gathering evidence to be used in the next stage. The Explain phase is broken into two steps: first, students use the evidence they gathered from the Explore phase to develop their own explanations of the phenomenon. Second, once the students' explanations are close enough to the scientifically excepted explanation, the teacher provides the explanation to their students. During the Extend phase, students apply what they learned to something new. Finally, the Evaluate phase consists of a summative assessment but also considers how teachers will perform formative evaluations throughout the lesson. Since SSI is a teaching strategy that specifically introduces real-world problems to the science classroom, it can easily be situated in a 5E teaching framework.

SSI instruction is often not the only new aspect of reformed based practices teacher educators are introduced during an intervention (Nielsen et al., 2020). The generalized framework supports PSTs in figuring out how to plan and teach a lesson that they can apply across content. In addition, The SSI community has produced specialized

teaching frameworks that are specific for SSI based science instruction that can be fit within the generalized framework. Particularly, the SSI Teaching and Learning (SSI-TL) framework integrates NGSS alignment into SSI lessons. The framework was developed by Sadler and colleagues and is further explained in the Theoretical Framing for this dissertation titled *Socioscientific Issues Teaching and Learning for Social Justice Framework: Promoting Sociopolitical Consciousness and Challenging Colorblind Ideologies* section.

There is little research on using this framework within pre-service teacher education. Since The SSI-TL framework integrates the NGSS, embedding this framework within the generalized 5E requires that teachers hold some competence with the NGSS. In addition to the supportive frameworks, ample scaffolds, and appropriate strategies enacted by teacher educators are also needed for PSTs to successfully implement SSI.

# Strategies

Strategies involve study interventions and teacher educator practices that are used to foster PST development of SSI based science instruction, most often in a science methods course. These strategies fall within four stages: experience, design, enactment, and reflection. Teacher educator implementation of these stages ranges from utilizing only one to all four and is not necessarily sequential.

**Experience of SSI based learning.** Nearly all studies examined in this literature review that widely implemented SSI based instruction held the notion that PSTs need to experience SSI instruction as students before attempting to developing/utilizing them as

teachers. As they have likely have not experienced an SSI in the classroom before, they need to understand the complexity, open-endedness, and learn how to construct arguments with evidence on their own before they can be expected to foster these aspects of SSI in their future students (Garrido Espeja & Couso, 2020).

It is also important to model SSI based instruction for PSTs. However, only a handful of studies have done this. One example comes from Foulk (2019), where she used the SSI-TL framework to guide her secondary PSTs through an SSI lesson focused on the issue of nutrition and "fat taxes" (Sadler, Foulk, et al., 2016). Gul and Akcay (2019) combined the 5E and SSI-TL frameworks around the issue of climate change and the guiding question of "Can you decrease the effects [of] climate change by not making barbecue?" (p. 149).

There are also studies in which teacher educators modeled SSI based instruction without using a framework. For example, Evagorou, Guven, and Mugaloglu (2014) introduced the nature of SSI to their elementary PSTs through a lesson on global warming. Borgerding and Dagistan (2018) modeled SSI instruction by guiding secondary PSTs in argumentation practices involving the examination of multiple lines of evidence, anticipating opposing positions, and delivering counterarguments. Finally, Yerdelen et al. (2018) used class discussions about what SSIs are followed by role-playing as different stakeholders of an SSI to give PSTs experiences and an understanding of all that SSIs entail. One study asked PSTs investigate SSIs on their own. Karışan, Yılmaz Tüzün, and Zeidler (2017) had PSTs prepare a presentation for the class on a given SSI.

Presentations were made to emphasize essential concepts, address multiple perspectives, construct moral positions and arguments, and increase content understandings. The importance of these presentations was to allow students to take part in argumentation around an SSI. Two studies had PSTs perform primary and/or secondary research on SSIs to give them more ownership of their findings (Bencze & Sperling, 2012; Özden, 2015).

(Re)Design of SSI based lessons. Preservice teachers (PST) that have more opportunities to create/modify lesson plans are more confident and successful (Darling-Hammond et al., 2005). PST design of SSI based science lessons/units ranges from simple critique and modification of existing curriculum to the complete design of SSI infused units from scratch. Forbes and Davis (2008) investigated how elementary PSTs critiqued and changed existing SSI materials. They recommend this strategy rather than asking elementary PST to develop original curriculum because elementary PSTs have more barriers compared to their secondary PST peers, such as limited content knowledge. Borgerding and Dagistan (2018) had pairs of secondary PSTs design SSI microteaching presentations focusing on discussion strategies and found that PSTs eagerly adopted these strategies to teach about issues but were not able to distinguish the difference between SSIs and scientific topics that were controversial (e.g., evolution). Evagorou and colleagues (2014) required their elementary PSTs to design a lesson plan centered around an SSI with specific emphasis on how they would assess students on SSI attributes throughout the lesson. SSI assessment discussions focused on issues of what knowledge, understandings, and skills the SSI lesson is trying to develop. This strategy aligns with Nielsen (2020), who highlights the importance of providing scaffolds to PSTs to operationalize science learning goals within an SSI lesson. Evagorou and Puig Mauriz (2017) required their elementary PSTs to design a lesson plan around an SSI of their choice for their final project.

Few studies explicitly stated the types of scaffolds they provided PSTs for SSI curriculum design. Garrido Espeja and Couso (2020) gave their elementary PSTs a design guide for an SSI lesson they were to create. Following their first design of the SSI lesson, PSTs were given "constant researcher guidance" while they improved their designs. Secondary PSTs in Amos, Knippels, and Levinson's (2020) study co-designed SSI lessons using a framework similar to the SSI-TL framework with support from experienced teacher mentors. Foulk (2019) asked her secondary PSTs to design an entire unit with multiple lesson plans around an SSI of their choosing. Foulk provided many resources to PSTs during their SSI unit design (e.g., SSI unit template) as well as opportunities for peer collaboration and frequent feedback by the author.

PSTs have many challenges in the (re)design of SSI based curriculum that require teacher educators to provide scaffolds to support them in this endeavor (Amos et al., 2020; Garrido Espeja & Couso, 2020; Leung et al., 2020). However, few studies detail any of the scaffolds used to support PSTs in SSI curriculum development. The SSI-TL framework could serve as a potentially useful scaffold as it defines what to include and how to approach SSI teaching, as I describe later in this chapter.

Enactment of SSI based teaching. Providing opportunities for PSTs to enact their designs is critical to their development as teachers (Hammerness et al., 2005). However, few studies followed through with such strategies (Amos et al., 2020; Borgerding & Dagistan, 2018; Garrido Espeja & Couso, 2020). These studies range from teaching mini-SSI lessons to their peers to enacting full SSI lessons for students in the classroom. There are many barriers to enacting SSI based teaching in science methods courses, such as time constraints for PSTs to develop and teach their lessons and access to grade-level students in order to teach their SSI-lessons. These constraints make providing these opportunities challenging within science methods coursework.

**Reflection.** Reflection most often occurs after PSTs experience or enact an SSI based science lesson. PST reflection of their own learning experiences helps them identify their assumptions about teaching and learning which is important for the critical analysis needed to disrupt misconceptions about teaching and learning (Bransford et al., 2005).

Evagorou and colleagues (2014) employed discursive activities to encourage secondary PSTs to reflect on teaching strategies for SSI following their experiences with SSI based science learning. Reflections focused on three aspects of SSI: understanding SSI, beliefs about teaching SSI, and ideas about SSI assessment. Reflections about PST understanding included the nature of SSI and discussions about identifying the controversy within the issue. PSTs reflected about their beliefs in teaching SSI as they

identified if and why they found teaching SSI important and what they viewed as challenges for learners.

Reflections regarding assessment of SSI teaching involved identifying challenges to assessment and what they believe should be assessed. PSTs also considered how they might assess their future SSI teaching and how this might benefit them. Evagorou and Puig Mauriz (2017) used similar reflections following elementary PST experience of an SSI lesson. However, their reflections went beyond SSI specifically and included reflections on how PSTs defined science and how science should be taught.

During Foulk's (2019) dissertation study, secondary PSTs completed writing prompts and in-class discussions to reflect on their perceptions of SSI and its utility for teaching science. While reflecting on their experience with SSI as students, they were asked to consider the perspective of teachers to help prepare them in designing an SSI unit using the SSI-TL framework. Specific reflection about the cost and benefits of the SSI-TL framework was also done in both phases (experiences and design).

Garrido Espeja and Couso (2020) provided opportunities for reflection following elementary PST experiences with SSI as students and again after enacting designed lesson. The PSTs reflected both individually and in a group with the assistance of video clips taken while teaching their SSI focused-lesson. This final reflection aimed to identify the challenges and benefits of SSI based science instruction.

Another SSI reflection focused study also used group discussions and written reflections after PSTs designed and enacted their SSI lesson using a framework like the
SSI-TL (Amos et al., 2020). In this case, PSTs used self-evaluations and evaluations from their co-planner to reflect. In another study, PSTs watched the video of their microteaching activity and reflected on how they maintained a constructive learning environment, encouraged active learning, used scientific practices, engaged students in evidence-based argumentation, and ideas for how they could improve their teaching in the future (Borgerding & Dagistan, 2018).

The themes that are apparent in the research regarding reflection, focuses on experiences and enactments of SSI lessons; understanding SSI, identifying the importance of teaching SSI, identifying strategies in teaching SSI, and identifying challenges of SSI based instruction. As PSTs are likely new to teaching and learning with SSI, they must have the opportunity to reflect on their understanding of the nature of SSIs so they can better understand how they might design and enact an SSI lesson.

Reflection is particularly important because, as indicated by Zangori and colleagues (2018), teachers' beliefs mediate their decisions on enactment of SSI based science instruction. It is through reflection, that teachers have opportunities to uncover and explore their beliefs. Additionally, specifically within the elementary classroom, elementary teachers see SSI as a way to promote students becoming responsible citizens (Friedrichsen et al., 2020). As such, identifying the importance of teaching SSI during elementary teacher education has the potential for fostering the long-term commitment needed for teachers to become successful at implementing SSI based science instruction. Finally, reflection on enactment of teaching SSI lesson is required

because SSI based science instruction is a complex and difficult task that requires a critical analysis for improvement.

#### **Preservice Teacher Outcomes**

Across the studies cited above that focus on SSI implementation in preservice teacher education, the research falls into two categories: PST as students experiencing SSI lessons and PST as teachers enacting SSI lessons. Outcomes involving PST as students focus on how well participants understand SSI, engage with socioscientific reasoning and/or argumentation skills, and other related attributes. Whereas outcomes highlighting PST as teachers focuses on belief alignment and/or change, challenges (perceived and observed), and the ability to design SSI based lessons.

Pre-service teachers as students. Many studies position PSTs as students receiving SSI based science instruction. These studies have investigated things such as argumentation and reasoning of PSTs (Karışan et al., 2017; Ozturk & Yilmaz-Tuzun, 2017; Pezaro et al., 2014; Topçu et al., 2011), how PSTs discuss SSIs in class (Kim et al., 2014), critical thinking skills (Gul & Akcay, 2019), and understanding the cultural aspects of science and SSI (Evagorou & Puig Mauriz, 2017; Özden, 2015). It is important that PSTs first experience SSIs as students so that they better understand SSIs as gain some of the skills that they will attempt to teacher their students when they plan and implement SSIs based lessons.

**Pre-service teachers as teachers.** Studies that focus on attributes associated with the implementation of SSI based science instruction range widely in their attempts

of preparing PSTs to implement SSI based science instruction. Some studies provide little to no guidance in teaching science through SSIs and others offer highly embedded SSI practices throughout a science methods course. Of the studies that promote SSI instruction, few use SSI teaching frameworks. Regardless of method, outcomes of these studies are presented below.

#### Preservice teachers' beliefs about teaching and learning through a

*socioscientific issue.* Within the research regarding PSTs' beliefs about SSI teaching and learning there two main categories: beliefs related to PST commitments to teaching science through SSIs and beliefs about the utility/importance of SSI.

Beliefs related to commitment. While many PSTs throughout the studies discussed below show a general commitment to teaching science through SSI, much of the focus of these studies were on the beliefs that caused PSTs not to be committed to teaching SSI based science. Foulk (2019) found that beliefs about teaching SSI are mediated by PSTs' beliefs about science education in general. For example, one PST in her study understood science as a collection of facts and that science teachers are responsible for imparting these facts on to their students. This PST saw the SSI-TL framework as distracting from science. This finding is also apparent in Genel and Topçu's study (2016), who found that some PSTs did not believe SSI to be a central theme for science teaching. Barrett and Nieswandt (2010) and Leung and colleagues (2020) found that the interdisciplinary nature of SSI causes some secondary PSTs to believe it would be more appropriate to teach in other subjects. These findings support the view that

elementary teachers may be particularly suited to using SSI as they are generalists and can use SSI to interconnect the subjects they teach.

However, other PSTs in Foulk's study viewed science as much more complex, including aspects like scientific knowledge and practices, decision-making, and communication. These PSTs saw the SSI-TL framework as truly encompassing what science is and they were committed to its use. Bencze and Sperling (2012) also saw commitments to use SSI in future classroom instruction. Similarly, Yerdelen et al. (2018) found that after an entire course focused on teaching science through SSI increased PSTs' interest and beliefs of the usefulness of SSI based science instruction.

Beliefs about the utility of SSI based science instruction. There are three main beliefs about the utility of SSI based instruction: those that believe it is not useful, those that believe it is useful but only as an instrument to teach science, and those that believe understanding and navigating SSI is an important goal of science education. Foulk's study showed that PSTs with goals for k-12 science education that aligned with only vision I scientific literacy (science knowledge and skills that are often limited to the science classroom) did not see the utility of the SSI-TL framework. Many other PSTs see SSI as merely an instructional tool to help students obtain content knowledge and not something more (Sadler, 2006).

However, others have shown that it is possible to help PSTs shift from an instrumental view about SSI to a belief in using SSIs as a way to create deep connections between the classroom and the real world and possibly even prepare students to be

more critical about and involved in such issues (Leung et al., 2020). They stress the importance of addressing the interrelationship among SSI, content knowledge, and nature of science so that PSTs are less likely to see SSI as a mere instrument. Similarly, Foulk identified that PSTs with more comprehensive goals for science education that aligned with vision I and II saw the SSI-TL framework promoting responsible citizens through science education.

Supporting Foulk's realizations, Evagorou and Puig Mauriz (2017) explained that PSTs beliefs about teaching science through SSIs are mediated by their beliefs about science; PSTs that view science as having social aspects, promote social aspects in their science instruction. Similarly, if PSTs saw science as value-free they were less likely to teach ethics using SSIs (Barrett & Nieswandt, 2010).

*Preservice teacher enactment.* Not surprisingly, PSTs without guidance as to how to teach science through SSIs, struggled to do so (Genel & Topçu, 2016). Guidance has been shown to increase self-efficacy for teaching SSIs to moderate levels (Kara, 2012; Pitiporntapin et al., 2016), PSTs still struggle to fully implement SSI based science instruction, as highlighted in the following findings. When it comes to designing SSI lessons, PSTs have difficulties making connections between SSIs and curricular content (Garrido Espeja & Couso, 2020; Pitiporntapin et al., 2016). Pitiporntapin et al. (2016) found that PSTs had difficulty properly threading SSI throughout a unit to tie it all together.

Even when PSTs are given a teaching framework, they struggle to implement all aspects of the approach (Amos et al., 2020). Additionally, Evagorou and Puig Mauriz (2017) found it challenging for PSTs to include social dimensions in their science lesson plans even when they gain an understanding of the social aspects of the SSI. During the implementation of SSI lessons, PSTs have difficulty supporting students with using scientific evidence when defending their opinions and had a hard time facilitating discussions (Garrido Espeja & Couso, 2020). PSTs also have a difficult time evaluating SSI based outcomes (Sadler, 2006).

With all the above difficulties it is apparent that PSTs require many scaffolds when being introduced to teaching science through SSI. For example, Foulk (2019) showed that secondary PSTs successfully used the SSI-TL framework to design an SSI based unit. However, the scaffolds were not the only thing that impacted PSTs' ability to do this, alignment between their beliefs about general science education and teaching with SSIs had an impact as well.

# Preservice teachers' challenges/barriers to SSI implementation. Introducing PSTs to teaching science through an SSI approach is a difficult task, as SSI is often not the only new aspect of reformed based practices they are learning (Nielsen et al., 2020). This is evident in the study by Amos and others (2020), which demonstrated that PSTs were not able to implement all aspects of an SSI teaching framework which focused on two reform-based practices: SSI and inquiry-based learning.

While many studies indicate that PSTs generally have a large commitment to the implementation of SSI based teaching strategies (Bencze & Sperling, 2012; Kara, 2012; Pitiporntapin et al., 2016) others show a lack of follow-through in their early years of teaching (Pitiporntapin et al., 2016; Sadler, 2006). This is likely because PSTs perceive barriers, such as lack of time and materials for teaching science with SSI (Kara, 2012) in addition to all the other challenges new teachers face (Adams & Krockover, 1997; Luft & Patterson, 2002). These studies further underline the need for long term support beginning with teacher education programs for teachers to properly implement SSI based science teaching.

### **Literature Review Conclusion**

Authors have assessed many outcomes of SSI based science instruction/preparation for PSTs. Many of these outcomes include varying forms of PSTs' beliefs and focus on PST beliefs regarding SSI overall (whether to implement it in their own practice). However, no studies address how preparing PSTs for SSI based science instruction might be used to promote sociopolitical consciousness for social justice and challenge their colorblind ideologies to better prepare future teachers to teach in a culturally responsive manner. Additionally, despite the obvious need for substantial scaffolds for PSTs when learning to design and implement SSI based science instruction, there are very few known SSI teaching frameworks, and few, if any, utilized SSI teaching frameworks (e.g., SSI-TL) to support elementary PST development. Therefore, it is the aim of this study to investigate the impact of an SSI focused science methods course on elementary PSTs' sociopolitical consciousness and colorblind ideologies. Specifically, this study will utilize the SSI-TL framework emphasizing the structural racism that is highlighted by SSI to enlighten PSTs to the complexities of racism in our country.

#### Theoretical Framing: Working Towards a Culturally Responsive SSI-TL Framework

The goal of this section is to add teaching for social justice to the SSI-TL framework to make it a framework that critiques, and challenges inequities highlighted by SSIs. I also explain how SSI-based instruction can be leveraged to challenge preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies and promote sociopolitical consciousness. To do this, I first define sociopolitical consciousness. Next, to introduce science education I present a brief history of science and racism, including how science education is prone to colorblind ideologies. Then a discussion about culturally responsive science education. Finally, Culturally Responsive Education

The term culturally responsive education (CRE; Aronson & Laughter, 2016; Dover, 2013) is used to encompass both Ladson-Billings' (1995a) *culturally relevant pedagogy* and Gay's (2002) *culturally responsive teaching*. These two strands of CRE are often used interchangeably. Ladson-Billings (1995) defines *culturally relevant pedagogy* as a "theoretical model that not only addresses student achievement but also helps students to accept and affirm their cultural identity while developing critical perspectives that challenge inequities that schools (and other institutions) perpetuate" (pg. 469). Gay (2002) defines *culturally responsive teaching* as "using the cultural characteristics, experiences, and perspectives of ethnically diverse students as conduits for teaching them more effectively" (pg. 106). *Culturally responsive teaching* focuses on instructional practices whereas *culturally relevant pedagogy* focuses more on the attitudes and dispositions of teachers (Aronson & Laughter, 2016). Both, however, have the goal of changing the educational system to better serve all students, not just individuals that are White, male, middle class, cisgender, straight, and enabled body.

Aronson and Laughter (2016) synthesized the CRE framework through four indicators of a culturally relevant teacher:

 Culturally relevant educators use constructivist methods to develop bridges connecting students' cultural references to *academic skills and concepts*. Culturally relevant educators build on the knowledges and cultural assets students bring with them into the classroom; the culturally relevant classroom is inclusive of all students.
 Culturally relevant educators engage students in *critical reflection* about their own lives and societies. In the classroom, culturally relevant educators use inclusive curricula and activities to support analysis of all the cultures represented.

3) Culturally relevant educators facilitate students' *cultural competence*. The culturally relevant classroom is a place where students both learn about their own and others' cultures and also develop pride in their own and others' cultures.

4) Culturally relevant educators explicitly unmask and unmake oppressive systems
 through the *critique of discourses of power*. Culturally relevant educators work not only
 in the classroom but also in the active pursuit of social justice for all members of society.
 (p.5)

Many studies have established the positive impacts of CRE on student outcomes. Teaching through CRE has shown to increase academic achievement (Bui & Fagan, 2013; Choi, 2013; Conrad et al., 2003; Duncan-Andrade, 2007; Nykiel-Herbert, 2010; Rodriguez et al., 2004) and engagement (Christianakis, 2011; Feger, 2006; Hefflin, 2002; Martell, 2013; Stanton Wortham & Contreras, 2002; Tate, 1995). It also supports the development of sociopolitical consciousness in students (Epstein et al., 2011; Martell, 2013; Morrell & Duncan-Andrade, 2002; Stovall, 2006) as well as promote positive identity of self and others (Aldana et al., 2012; Brozo et al., 1996; Dessel et al., 2006; Spencer et al., 2008).

#### Barriers to Enacting Culturally Responsive Education

Preparing culturally responsive teachers has proven an arduous task. To understand these difficulties, a description of the typical elementary preservice and inservice teacher is required. There exists an increasing discrepancy between the demographics of our teachers and their students. According to the most recent data (Hussar et al., 2020), 79% of teachers are White and teaching students that are racially different from themselves; 52% of students are from underrepresented groups (i.e., Hispanic 27%, Black 15%, Asian 5%, Native American 1%, and Pacific Islander 1%). Compounding the problem, these teachers come from the same significantly segregated school system; 79% of White students are no longer the majority in our school system). On top of these demographic differences between students and teachers, Castro (2010) and Sleeter (2008) have identified four interrelated barriers to preparing culturally responsive teachers. I discuss each of these in turn:

- Insufficient prior experiences with culturally diverse others
- Insufficient sociopolitical consciousness of structural racism
- Deficit views and lower expectations for students of color
- Colorblind ideology

Insufficient Prior Experiences with Culturally Diverse Others. For numerous reasons, but most noticeably significant school segregation due to redlining and White flight from racially diverse school districts in the 1960s and 1970s, and more recently moving into private and charter schools (Renzulli & Evans, 2005), White preservice teachers lack prior experiences with culturally diverse others. Without a backdrop of experiences with cultural differences, White teachers are not likely to view themselves as cultural entities. This results in their positioning of themselves as the "norm" for which they compare their students to. This reinforces deficit thinking about their students when their students do not meet the metrics assigned by these norms (Sleeter, 2008).

#### Insufficient Sociopolitical Consciousness of Structural Racism. Additionally,

White preservice teachers lack the sociopolitical consciousness needed to comprehend complex systematic racism partially because they lack experiences with racially diverse others, and instead they view racism as individual acts by "bad people" (Castro, 2010).

They often base their understanding of race in individualistic terms, applying their knowledge about their White ethnic past to non-Whites.

Deficit Views and Lower Expectations for Students of Color. Without prior experiences involving culturally diverse others, White PSTs only have their own and similar experiences to construct their understanding of what it takes to succeed. This supports their illusion of meritocracy, that only hard work is required to achieve prosperity and success. Seeing the world through individualism and meritocracy, White preservice teachers are blind to the effects of racism on people of Color. Without seeing the effects of racism, White preservice teachers are only able to make sense of the educational achievement gap by holding deficit views about and lower expectations for students of Color.

**Colorblind Ideology**. Furthermore, preservice teachers tend to adopt a colorblind approach to teaching where they believe they are treating everyone equally by teaching them the same, disregarding cultural differences (DiAngelo, 2018). By treating everyone the same (based on their own perceived norms) and ignoring cultural differences, teachers propagate racism. For teachers to enact CRP they must first critically analyze and appropriately dismantle their own collection of thoughts and ideologies about diversity that are incongruent with CRE (Milner, 2010).

Colorblindness is an ideology that not only is a barrier to teaching in a culturally responsive way, but it is also an ideology that propagates racism as a system (DiAngelo, 2018). Individuals claiming to be colorblind identify that prejudice based on skin color is

wrong and that differences are only skin deep. However, by not acknowledging the cultural differences of their students and meeting them on their students' cultural terms, teachers limit the learning opportunities of students of color. Colorblind ideologies create a feedback loop to deficit thinking. This creates and maintains the achievement gap and spreads inequity within our educational system. When there is inequity one group gains advantage in the system (White privilege) and other groups are disadvantaged. White privilege results in White individuals achieving more within the system which reinforces their belief in the superiority of their way of doing things and perceiving the world, in turn reinforcing racist ideologies. In an educational setting, this results in White preservice teachers believing that the way they achieved academic success is the same way that their students should, regardless of their cultural backgrounds.

## Promoting Sociopolitical Consciousness and Challenging Colorblind Ideologies in Preservice Teachers

Moving away from the notions of singularity within a colorblind ideology, requires realizing the complexities of cultural diversity including seeing oneself as a cultural being and recognizing White privilege and racism (Bollin & Finkel, 1995; Castro, 2010; S. M. Lawrence & Bunche, 1996; Sleeter, 2008, 2017). White privilege and racism go hand in hand, one community cannot experience inequality without another experiencing privilege (e.g., Black communities cannot have two times higher death rates due to COVID-19 without White communities having half the death rate of Black communities). However, when a White teacher educator, like myself, is preparing primarily White preservice teachers and assisting them to unlearn their colorblind ideology, the focus needs to be on the privilege they have because they are White. Without addressing White privilege first, White preservice teachers are likely to strengthen their stereotypes and generalizations of People of Color (McDiarmid, 1992).

Many scholars and educators have presented practices that White students can utilize to assist them in realizing their privilege, understanding the complexity of structural racism, and how the two are interwoven. Opportunities for self-reflection are important if White students are going to recognize their privilege (Bennett, 2019; Castro, 2014; Diangelo, 2012; Milner, 2003). Identifying the benefit of being White (Heinze, 2008), questioning the origins of stereotypes (Castro, 2010), and self-reflection, can be used by teacher educators to encourage White PSTs to consider the perspectives of their students that are disadvantaged by the same societal structure that creates White privilege (Hurtado et al., 2002; Narvaez & Hill, 2010). However, these attempts have shown to be difficult and are only successful over long periods of time. For example, Goode and colleagues (2020) found that long-term professional development is needed to disrupt colorblind ideologies in teachers. Narvaez and Hill (2010) and Bowman (2010) found that meaningful experiences with diverse others is needed for change.

Science teacher educators can address preservice teachers' colorblindness and promote sociopolitical consciousness through the incorporation of Socioscientific Issues.

In the following section, I introduce the role science and science education has played and continues to play in structural racism and then present a modified teaching framework for challenging colorblindness and promoting sociopolitical consciousness.

#### Science Education and Social Justice

The following sections give a brief outline of the often-problematic relationship science and science education have had with social justice, as well as work that has and potentially can be used to get science education on a more just trajectory.

Science and Racism. It is important to acknowledge the historic and ongoing scientific racism so that we can appropriately respond to it within science education. Science has long been used to support racism. White people have used science as a tool and/or justification for innumerous atrocities. For example, Linnaeus (the father of biological taxonomy) used his binomial naming system (genera and species) to define and assign what he viewed as a hierarchy of perfection based on physical and intellectual attributes to subgroups of humans with *Homo sapiens europaeus* (White) at the top and *Homo sapiens afer* (Black) at the bottom to justify slavery (Graves, 2003). Medical doctors forcefully developed surgical practices on slaves by holding them down and not giving them pain medicine (Washington, 2006). The United States Government employed eugenics and forced sterilizations on Native Americans as recently as the 1970s (J. Lawrence, 2000). Researchers conducting the Tuskegee syphilis study denied their Black participants the cure to syphilis for 25 years finally ending in 1974 (Brandt, 1978). This history has created a deep mistrust of science and medicine in Black

communities (Corbie-Smith, 1999). Additionally, science as an institution has denied access, silenced, and exploited communities and individuals of color.

Science Education and Colorblind Ideology. Despite the long, troubling, and obviously cultural history of science and racism, science education usually regards science as acultural and objective; adopting a colorblind ideology which affectively sustains the status quo. Sheth (2019) explains four colorblind science teaching themes that continue to support racism. 1) Discussing racial differences in a genetics lesson without explicitly *disrupting* the idea that race is biological and not a cultural construct perpetuates racist ideas among students. It also ignores how students' connections to these concepts vary in their cultural meanings and have real consequences, which further others students of color. 2) Tokenizing scientists of color without addressing the structural racism that has limited the participation of People of Color supports ideas of meritocracy. 3) Presenting science as race-neutral wrongfully positions science as equally benefiting or harming all groups, regardless of race. 4) Using objectivity to teach science absent historical, social, and political contexts rather than including questions about ethics, justice, and how various positions and subjectivities inform the answers to these questions.

#### **Culturally Responsive Science Education**

Much of the work in culturally responsive science education focuses on bridging the culture of science and the cultures of students. This focus addresses the first two aspects of CRE given by Ladson-Billings (1995); increasing all students' success regardless of cultural differences and support cultural competence. However, fewer studies have addressed Ladson-Billings (1995) third aspect of culturally responsive teaching that helps students "develop a broader sociopolitical consciousness that allows them to critique the cultural norms, values, mores, and institutions that produce and maintain social inequities" (p. 162). Socioscientific issues are perfectly situated to accomplish Ladson-Billings' third aspect of CRE (Mensah, 2011). Yet, little research about how to incorporate these two frameworks has been done.

#### Socioscientific Issues and Sociopolitical Consciousness

While science and society are often discussed as separate entities within SSI, it is important to note that this is not a reflection of researchers' view of science being apart from society. Quite the opposite, because science is a human endeavor, it cannot be separated from society (Sadler, 2004b). Due to the nature of SSIs, they often reveal problems within science and society. For example, global warming has drawn attention to societal dependence on fossil fuels and the inability to place worry over the shortterm economic concerns of mitigation attempts over the long-term impacts of global warming. While the wealthy and powerful often decide which solution (if any) to use, it is the poor and disenfranchised that most often suffer from issues such as climate change and environmental pollution because they lack the resources necessary to mitigate impacts. As such, SSIs tend to highlight who our society deems least worthy of, what should be, basic human rights.

For example, as I mentioned in the introduction, early studies show that Black individuals are more likely to be hospitalized and die from COVID-19 than White individuals (Garg et al., 2020). Urban heat islands (areas of higher temperature due to the change from vegetation to asphalt, concrete, and buildings which absorb more of the sun's energy) and lack of proper resources have caused disparities in the effects of global warming for People of Color as they are more likely to live in urban areas and have less wealth due to structural racism (Harlan et al., 2015). Because many SSIs shed light on these issues, science teachers can use SSIs to accomplish Ladson-Billings' third goal of CRE; helping students grow their sociopolitical consciousness that can be used to identify, critique, and change the social norms that produce and maintain inequities in our society. Similarly, the direct evidence of racial inequality that SSI's highlight may assist White preservice teachers in unlearning their colorblind ideologies.

## Socioscientific Issues Teaching and Learning for Social Justice Framework: Promoting Sociopolitical Consciousness and Challenging Colorblind Ideologies

Developing a teaching framework that will potentially disrupt preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies and promote their sociopolitical consciousness using socioscientific issues involves taking the existing Socioscientific Issues Teaching and Learning (SSI-TL) framework by Sadler, Foulk, and colleagues (2016) as shown in Figure 1 and emphasizing social justice considerations (i.e., the complexity of racism, White privilege, self-reflection, and perspective-taking). For each element in the SSI-TL framework, I will first give a brief explanation of the original framework produced by Sadler, Foulk, and colleagues (2016) shown in Figure 1, followed by a section that will explain how I am modifying the framework to promote sociopolitical consciousness in preservice teachers as shown in Figure 2. My modified SSI-TL framework is titled the Socioscientific Issues Teaching and Learning for Social Justice (SSI-SJ) framework shown in Figure 2.

**SSI-TL.** Sadler, Foulk and colleagues (2016) identify two main components of their SSI-TL framework 1) the sequence of learning experiences and 2) learning outcomes associated with SSI-TL. The first component (seen on the left side of the SSI-TL in Figure 1) is comprised of three main phases in sequence (encounter with the focal issue, engagement with the focal issue, and synthesis of key ideas and practices) followed by two components (opportunities to use information and communication technologies and opportunities for self-reflection) that should be integrated throughout the three main phases. Sadler, Foulk, and colleagues (2016) divide the learning outcomes into two sections 1) alignment with the national science standards, the *Next Generation Science Standards* (NGSS Lead States, 2013) and 2) learning objectives and learning goals associated with Roberts (2007) definition of "Vision II Scientific Literacy".



Figure 2: Socioscientific Issues Teaching and Learning for Social Justice framework



**Encountering the Focal Issue.** During this phase, students are first introduced to the socioscientific issue (e.g., showing a video clip from a contemporary news segment) as would occur within the SSI-TL. Through this introduction, students begin to experience how the issue is connected to science (ideas, principles, and/or practice) and what social considerations are at work within the issue. The SSI-SJ additionally includes sociopolitical consciousness during this phase by emphasizing how the issue disproportionately impacts People of Color and how White people, in turn, have gained advantages (i.e., COVID-19 transmission, hospitalizations, and deaths by race and/or initial testing site locations compared to neighborhood demographics). However, considering this is potentially the first experience in which students critically examine an SSI with an emphasis on social justice, placing Whiteness at the center of the issue might support White students in identifying their privilege. If a particular marginalized group was placed in the center, this could indicate they need saving, which could potentially promote deficit views of the group. For example, an individual could reframe their examination of the causes of structural racism with an examination of the causes of White Privilege. For example, changing the guiding question of "why are Black people are 4 times more likely than White people to die from COVID-19?" to "why are White people are 4 times less likely to die from COVID-19?". Followed by an opportunity for self-reflection and perspective taking.

**Engagement with Focal Issues.** The general goal of this phase does not change in the SSI-SJ, but the focus is directed at issues of social justice and inequality. Students

spend the most time in the *engagement with the focal issue* phase. During this time, students engage with the three dimensions of the NGSS (i.e., disciplinary core ideas, science practices, and cross-cutting concepts) as they gain an understanding of the underlying science practices and concepts associated with the issue through science learning activities. Within the SSI-TL, students are guided to consider aspects of socioscientific reasoning (SSR), where they begin to make connections to the science and social considerations of the issue. I build on the SSI-TL to also make the aspects of Socioscientific reasoning (SSR) explicit with respect to social justice. In the following sections, I provide concise explanation of each SSR competency and how they are utilized within the SSI-SJ to promote sociopolitical consciousness.

*Complexity.* SSIs are inherently complex because they require understanding the issue through not just a scientific lens but social, cultural, political, economic, and/or historical (to name a few) and the interactions between these fields as well. Therefore, students engaging with SSI's should show an ability to understand and communicate these complexities as opposed to reducing them to simple cause and effect explanations. To promote sociopolitical consciousness in the SSI-SJ framework the complex nature of how structural racism compounds the impacts of the SSI on People of Color should be examined and, especially for White students, how the same structures create White privilege.

*Multiple Perspectives.* Another aspect that makes SSI's so complex are the many diverse positions one can have on the issue. Each perspective can be well-reasoned and

well-meaning yet produce vastly different solutions to the SSI, reflecting the individual's priorities, values, and biases (Sadler et al., 2007). Students working within an SSI unit are encouraged to consider perspectives other than their own. However, when Sadler et al. considered biases, it was evident that his team was speaking primarily of biases as related to such things that are economic or political (e.g., oil companies economic biases when it comes to global warming) and not racial biases. Within the SSI-SJ framework, race-based perspectives would be highlighted as well and in conjunction with other types of perspectives. Teachers should give voice to and encourage students to consider the perspectives of racial group(s) that experience structural racism through the effects of the SSI. Additionally, students should consider and reflect on how race and racial biases may impact other types of perspectives around the issue, including their own.

*Inquiry.* Stakeholders involved with an SSI never have all the information required to make a fully informed decision because of the complex, ill-structured, and the ongoing investigative nature of SSI's (Barab et al., 2007). Not only is the science within SSI's often at the forefront of science and thus tentative, but the social, cultural, and economic impacts of a particular solution are regularly unknown and in need of further inquiry. Within the SSI-SJ, to promote sociopolitical consciousness, students should take part in inquiries into how specific groups of people are impacted (positively and negatively) by a solution.

*Skepticism.* A fair degree of skepticism is important when navigating information regarding SSIs, because there are many perspectives with differing solutions and their

own biases. Information regarding SSIs that come from these different perspectives are bound to reflect their biases. Students need to be skeptical of the information they are viewing. Especially, in today's world of smartphones, Facebook, Twitter, and Google, information regardless of its validity is easily disseminated worldwide. Yet, when considering SSI's, it is imperative that students still consider other perspectives and review information from the internet/other media sources. This is precisely why a Sadler and others (2016) created a resource for supporting critical analysis of media. However, skepticism can be a dangerous deflection of individuals that deny the existence of White privilege. Most White people in the United States are skeptical that structural racism is a reality for Black people (Horowitz et al., 2019). Therefore, within the SSI-SJ, skepticism includes a direct discussion and considerations of the extent skepticism should be used in varying situations.

Affordances and Limitations of Science. SSIs are explicitly connected to social and scientific ways of knowing. As such, students need to consider and utilize other epistemologies beyond science when considering resolutions to these issues. They also need to understand what science can and cannot (or likely cannot) do. For example, some believe that science/engineering will invent a way to "fix" the climate and use this as a reason for inaction now. A major limitation of science in terms of social justice is its inability to inform moral judgements regarding an SSI, social considerations are often tapped for deciding what is right and wrong with respect to possible solutions. The SSI-SJ framework focuses on social justice by emphasizing the ability for science to

uncover/highlight racial inequities, but sciences' inability to pass moral judgments, and sciences' often complicit history with racism.

Synthesis of Ideas and Practices. The final phase in the SSI-TL framework involves students integrating ideas and practices they have encountered and engaged with throughout the SSI unit into a culminating project (Sadler, Foulk, et al., 2016). Oftentimes this involves using science and socioscientific reasoning concepts and practices to generate or argue a solution to the issue while reflecting on their perspectives on the issue and how those perspectives might relate to their solution. Within the SSI-SJ, promoting sociopolitical consciousness involves emphasizing social justice-oriented solutions. Including reflections of how proposed solutions might impact individuals of varying racial perspectives especially those that are disproportionately impacted by the issue.

Additional Elements. There are two additional elements that Sadler, Foulk, and colleagues (2016) recommend utilizing throughout the SSI-TL framework; providing opportunities for students to gather information from contemporaneous media sources (e.g., news outlets, blogs/vlogs, and scientific literature) and opportunities for self-reflection of their beliefs and perspectives surrounding the issue. The SSI-SJ framework promotes sociopolitical consciousness by selecting media that present racial perspectives and using prompts that facilitate race reflection (Milner, 2003).

**Learning Objectives.** Sadler and colleagues present two types of learning goals; mainstream NGSS learning objectives (vision I) and learning objectives associated with

vision II scientific literacy (Robert, 2007). While a focus on social justice would have strong connections with the latter which includes awareness of the issue, epistemology of science, SSR, and identity development, it is important to distinguish sociopolitical consciousness regarding racial equity as a standalone learning objective in the SSI-SJ. Such a learning objective reflects Ladson-Billings' (1995b) definition of sociopolitical consciousness to challenge the cultural norms, values, and institutions that create and maintain social inequities.

#### Summary

The Socioscientific Issues Teaching and Learning (SSI-TL) framework was modified and renamed the Socioscientific Issues Teaching and Learning for Social Justice (SSI-SJ) framework to take a deliberate step for science education to engage in culturally responsive education more fully. However, it is well documented that PSTs have barriers to teaching in culturally responsive ways; barriers such as colorblind ideologies and a lack of sociopolitical consciousness. The SSI-SJ was used in this study in attempt to breakdown these barriers that preservice elementary teachers have.

#### **Chapter Three: Methods**

#### Introduction

The purpose of this quantitative study is to determine if a pre-service elementary teacher science methods course that frames teaching science through the SSI of COVID-19 promotes preservice elementary teachers' sociopolitical consciousness, challenges their colorblind ideologies, and increases their socioscientific consciousness.

Due to limited resources, availability of participants, and the novel focus of this study it was appropriate to conduct a pre-experimental design. A pre-experimental design is a research method used to test if an intervention has the potential to cause a change in a limited study (e.g., small sample size), indicating whether the line of research is worth pursuing at a larger scale (Frey, 2018). Convenience sampling was used to select two groups of participants for this study. Participants first completed pretest measures, then experienced an intervention (Table 1), and finally post-test measures. The following sections cover research context, participants, intervention design, data collection, and data analysis methods. An outline of the research questions and their associated data sources and analysis is in Table 2.

#### **Research Context and Participants**

The project took place in an elementary science methods course at a large Midwestern R1 university. This course was a one-semester course situated within a fouryear undergraduate program for elementary teaching. Preservice teachers (PST) generally take this course during their junior year, and it is one of several methods

courses they take (e.g., math, English language arts, art, social studies, and music). Importantly, I was the instructor of record and I have taught the elementary science methods course from fall 2018 to the time of the study, spring 2021. While teaching this course I often used the SSI-TL framework as a tool for course design. The SSI-TL framework supported my incorporation of socioscientific issues-based science instruction. It also provided the preservice teachers in my class a scaffold for science lesson development. However, this study was the first time I built onto this framework to add the Social Justice components for teaching science. For this study, I taught two sections of the elementary science methods course during the same semester. I taught the courses as identically as the different groups of students allowed. In each section, I included a nine-week unit (Table 1) where PSTs collaborated in small groups of 4-5 students to learn about the SSI-SJ framework and produce their own SSI based lessons during a science methods course for elementary preservice teachers. This was the only science method course the PSTs received during their undergraduate elementary education program. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the lack of a widely available vaccine at the point of implementation, teaching and learning took place entirely online. Each section met via an online video platform once a week for 1.5 hours (section 1 -Monday and section 2 – Fridays). Beyond our synchronous online class meeting, PSTs were expected to work on asynchronous aspects of the online course (e.g., readings, videos, assignments, group work etc.).

Enrollment in sections one and two of the elementary science methods courses was 24 and 27, respectively. Of these 51 students, all were working toward a Bachelor of Science in elementary education, 37 were juniors and 14 were seniors at the time of the study. Like previous semesters in the course, 92% (47) individuals were female and 8% (4) were male; 80% (41) were White, 8% (4) were Black, and 6% (3) were Hispanic. This majority White teacher education classroom is typical of elementary educations majors. The students enrolled in the course described where they lived prior to college as suburban (73%), rural (18%), and urban (10%).

#### **Intervention Design**

Table 1Table 1 contains an outline of the intervention unit and what the PSTs did during each phase of the unit. Each new subject (row) began with a discussion and example of the topic, The intervention unit had two levels of focus: PSTs as teachers and PSTs as students.

**PSTs as teachers focus.** The goal of the unit was to guide PSTs in their own creation of a lesson that utilized specific issues within the SSI of COVID-19 (i.e., masking and social distancing) to teach science. This was done by modeling for the PSTs an elementary SSI lesson that focused on the issue of the decline of the monarch butterfly. Teacher decisions with regards to the planning of the lesson were made visible to the PST and supporting videos of student learning within the unit were used to mimic real world classroom experiences. To create their own units, small groups of PSTs (4-5 individuals) first used the SSI-TL framework to create a unit focused on COVID-19. Due to time and course structure constraints, I provided the SSI-SJ framework as an option (but not a requirement) for use while creating their COVID-19 lessons. PSTs used backward design to create their units, starting with creating a driving question (e.g., should masks be required in our classroom?) and a corresponding culminating activity (e.g., creating an info graphic in support of/opposition to a particular solution) regarding the issue, then determining the science explanations students would need to complete the culminating activity (e.g., NGSS DCI PS1.A: Structure and Properties of Matter), then decided on the experiences/evidence/data/information their elementary students would need to create explanations. Finally, PSTs developed how they would initially present the issue/driving question to their students.

*PSTs as students focus.* When teaching the SSI to students, I used the SSI-SJ frameworks so that PSTs could consider (as learners) the broader social justice issues regarding the COVID-19 pandemic. During the PSTs as students focus of the intervention, the class reviewed the evidence of inequity highlighted by the COVID-19 pandemic, considered the root causes of these inequities, and considered others' perspectives of the issue. PSTs were also given a chance to reflect on their own perspective and how it may differ from others.

### Data Collection Timeline

Data collection occurred in two phases, pre- and post-intervention. Before the intervention demographic data was collected. I administered two different instruments (CoBRAS-SSI and QuASSR-SJ both described below) prior to and following the intervention using online Qualtrics survey software. Causal maps were also assigned pre- and post-intervention and collected through Canvas. A detailed data collection intervention timeline is in Table 1.

Table 1: Intervention Outline

Week number(s)	Description
and Topic	<ul> <li>○ PSTs as Teachers</li> <li>PSTs as Students</li> <li>✓ Data items</li> <li>New aspects of methods course curriculum implemented during the semester of this study are noted in italics</li> </ul>
Weeks 1-4: Normal beginning of semester (introduction to teaching science and the NGSS)	<ul> <li>Demographics</li> <li>Pre-tests implemented prior to intervention: QuASSR-SJ and CoBRAS-SSI</li> </ul>
Week 5: Introduction to SSIs	<ul> <li>Discussion about the definition and examples of socioscientific issues</li> <li>Small groups considered what the potential benefits of teaching science through a socioscientific issue might be</li> <li>Considering the complexity of SSIs: Causal map introduction</li> <li>✓ Assignment: COVID-19 causal map</li> </ul>

Week number(s)	Description
and Topic	<ul> <li>○ PSTs as Teachers</li> <li>PSTs as Students</li> <li>✓ Data items</li> <li>New aspects of methods course curriculum implemented during the semester</li> </ul>
	of this study are noted in italics
Week 6: Introduction to SSI-TL framework	<ul> <li>PSTs were introduced to the SSI-TL framework</li> <li>Small groups used their causal map assignment to make connections between COVID-19 and Next Generation Science Standard's Disciplinary Core Ideas</li> </ul>
Week 7: Selecting DCI(s) and Driving Questions	<ul> <li>Small groups considered how you can take the larger issue of COVID- 19 and create an issue, question, or problem statement that could drive a science unit that focuses on COVID-19 and the impacts at the local, neighborhood, small community, school, and/or classroom level</li> <li>PSTs were introduced to the SSI-SJ framework</li> <li>PSTs introduced to social justice issues highlighted by COVID-19         <ul> <li>Risk for COVID-19 Infection, Hospitalization, and Death by Race/Ethnicity (CDC, 2021a)</li> <li>Health Equity Considerations and Racial and Ethnic Minority Groups (CDC, 2021b)</li> </ul> </li> <li>Small groups created a list of possible culminating activities; given science ideas, social considerations, and their driving question</li> <li>✓ Assignment: COVID-19 causal map update and reflection on perspectives</li> </ul>

Week number(s)	Description
and Topic	<ul> <li>PSTs as Teachers</li> <li>PSTs as Students</li> <li>✓ Data items</li> <li>New aspects of methods course curriculum implemented during the semester of this study are noted in itelian.</li> </ul>
Week 8: Creating	
a Culminating	<ul> <li>PSTs created a driving question for their unit that students will</li> </ul>
	respond to in the culminating activity along with potential
, letting	perspectives regarding the question
	<ul> <li>PSTs developed a prompt for their culminating activity</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>PSTs further investigated social justice issues highlighted by COVID-19</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>How Herd Immunity Works — And What Stands in Its Way</li> </ul>
	(Thomas Wildburn & Richard Harris, 2021)
	<ul> <li>Consider This from NPR: Who's Getting Vaccinated and Who</li> </ul>
	Isn't: NPR Analysis Finds Stark Racial Divide (Ashley Lopez et
	al., 2021)
Weeks 9-11:	
Engagement with	<ul> <li>Small groups considered what students need to know (DCI) and be</li> </ul>
the focal issue	able to do (practice) to complete their culminating activity
(Science)	<ul> <li>Small groups decided how students would explain what they know</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Small groups developed experiences for students to collect</li> </ul>
	data/information so they can construct explanations and be given the
	opportunity to do the practices

Week number(s)	Description
and Topic	<ul> <li>PSTs as Teachers</li> <li>PSTs as Students</li> <li>✓ Data items</li> <li>New aspects of methods course curriculum implemented during the semester</li> </ul>
Weeks 12-13:	
Engagement with	<ul> <li>Small groups brainstormed social aspects of their driving question</li> </ul>
the focal issue	and possible experiences to give students that would have them
(Social)	consider these social aspects
	<ul> <li>Overview of science/science education and racism</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>Discussion of COVID-19 inequalities as presented in the following</li> </ul>
	media:
	The Atlantic: The Coronavirus Pandemic Will Cleave America
	<i>in Two</i> (Joe Pinsker, 2020)
	<ul> <li>Community Pulse from KOPN: Racial Disparities Highlighted</li> </ul>
	by Coronavirus (Elizabeth Allemann & Traci Wilson-
	Kleekamp, 2020)
	<ul> <li>Consider This from NPR: Masks Are Even More Important</li> </ul>
	Than We Thought (Kelly Mcevers, 2020)
	<ul> <li>Code Switch from NPR: A Shot in The Dark (Gene Demby,</li> </ul>
	2021)
	<ul> <li>The Daily from The New York Times: The Pandemic Economy</li> </ul>
	in 7 Numbers (Michael Barbaro, 2020)

Week number(s)	Description
and Topic	<ul> <li>PSTs as Teachers</li> <li>PSTs as Students</li> <li>✓ Data items</li> <li>New aspects of methods course curriculum implemented during the semester</li> </ul>
	of this study are noted in italics
Week 14: Encountering the Focal Issue	<ul> <li>Small groups determined how they would present the driving question and get students' initial responses, identify students' prior knowledge and misconceptions, and get students interested</li> <li>Assignment: Final COVID-19 causal map</li> <li>Post-tests implemented after intervention: QuASSR-SJ and CoBRAS-SSI</li> </ul>

## Data Collection

Each of the three main constructs of interest in this study (colorblind ideology, socioscientific reasoning, and sociopolitical consciousness) align with one of the three

research questions:

**Research Question 1:** Do elementary preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies

change while using an SSI unit across a semester?

**Research Question 2:** Do elementary preservice teachers' socioscientific reasoning

skills change while using an SSI unit across a semester?

Research Question 3: Do elementary preservice teachers develop sociopolitical

consciousness through an SSI unit across a semester? Can a change in sociopolitical

consciousness be predicted by preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies and socioscientific reasoning skills?

Data was collected to assess PSTs in each of these three constructs. A version of the instrument, the Color-Blind Racial Attitudes Scale ([CoBRAS] Neville, Lilly, Duran, Lee, & Browne, 2000; Appendix A) was modified to include environmental racism and used to measure participants' colorblind ideologies. The second instrument, a version of the Quantitative Assessment of Socio-Scientific Reasoning – open-ended ([QuASSRoe2];Romine, Sadler, & Kinslow, 2017; Appendix B) was modified to include a racial consideration and used to assess participants' SSR skills. Finally, to assess one aspect of sociopolitical consciousness, an individual's knowledge of social considerations influencing the society, participants created causal maps (Appendix C). While the other aspect of sociopolitical consciousness (i.e., willingness to act in response to this knowledge) would have been of interest, this study was limited in its ability to assess such a construct in any meaningful manner as we only met online, and the study took place over a short period during the COVID-19 pandemic. The following is a description of each data collection tool and how the data collection tools were developed and/or modified.

**Color-Blind Racial Attitudes Scale.** The components within CoBRAS, as noted by Neville et al. (2000), include racial privilege, institutional discrimination, and blatant racial discrimination. Each component is assessed using 6-7 items where participants respond to a statement using a 6-point Likert scale (1 = strongly agree; 6 = strongly
disagree). Nearly a third of the items are reverse coded to determine if participants are satisficing. This instrument does not include contexts associated with environmental racism, a specific type of structural racism that is often highlighted by SSIs, which was of interest here. I use the definition of Environmental racism, by Bullard (2018) as public policies and industry practices that disproportionately shift the negative impacts of pollution and environmental hazards to communities of Color. To address environmental racism, I added six questions to the original CoBRAS (see Appendix A). The format and tone of these questions were written to match the original questions and the content was determined through a review of relevant literature about the causes and outcomes of environmental racism (Bell & Ebisu, 2012; Bryant & Mohai, 2019; Tobin, 2015). These questions constitute a fourth factor that I call Unawareness of Environmental Racism. I have named this modified CoBRAS the Color-Blind Racial Attitudes Scale – Socioscientific Issues (CoBRAS – SSI).

Quantitative Assessment of Socio-Scientific Reasoning. The QuASSR-oe2 assesses the components of SSR: complexity, perspectives, inquiry, skepticism, and affordances and limitations of science. There are multiple published QuASSR instruments (Kinslow, 2018; Kinslow et al., 2019; Romine et al., 2017). Each version is modified for a specific SSI (e.g., debate over the release of genetically modified mosquitoes, who should pay to clean water due to agricultural practices, and the debate over fracking) and type of questions – open ended or Likert. Each QuASSR begins with text that explains the science behind the issue and at least two conflicting perspectives followed by prompts to assess each of the SSR components. The open-ended aspect of the QuASSR-oe2 was of particular use here, as it has the potential of measuring another variable not originally designed for the QuASSR-oe2 - how racial considerations are used throughout students' socioscientific reasoning.

However, none of the current versions of the QuASSR depicted an SSI that could be viewed through a racial social justice lens. As such, I have modified the Pavilion Wyoming Fracking QuASSR (Romine et al., 2017) to include a racial social justice perspective. I made minor changes to this QuASSR to highlight social justice considerations by changing the location to a similar real-world SSI in Arlington Texas. The original Wyoming Fracking QuASSR opened with the following:

Pavilion is a town in Wyoming located in the west central part of the state. Pavilion has a population of 240 people and is situated near a site where hydraulic fracturing (or "fracking") of natural gas takes place.

Which I modified to:

Arlington is a city in Texas west of Dallas. A neighborhood of predominantly Black and Hispanic working-class families in East Arlington is situated near a site where hydraulic fracturing (or "fracking") of natural gas takes place.

Additionally, the original Pavilion Wyoming Fracking QuASSR used Likert responses for each prompt. I changed the prompts to match the QuASSR-oe2 to gleam a deeper understanding about student's SSR regarding environmental justice. I call this modified instrument the QuASSR - social justice (QuASSR-SJ). It is found in Appendix B. *Causal Map.* PSTs created causal maps before and after the intervention to demonstrate their sociopolitical consciousness regarding what they knew about the COVID-19 pandemic. The prompt for the causal map (appendix C) was created using Jonassen and Strobel's (2006) explanation of how to coach students in the construction of causal maps. PSTs were first shown an example of a causal map (Figure 9) for the SSI of urbanization and monarch butterfly decline. During this example, PSTs were shown how to produce a causal map, the structure of maps (nodes and links), and they were given a list of possible linking words.

The prompt scaffolded PSTs through the planning and creation of their causal maps. First, they were to establish their perspective in creating their map (i.e., someone trying to reduce the spread of COVID-19) and determine what major aspects they were to consider (i.e., science and social considerations). Next, they identified the social and scientific concepts they believed to be pertinent (i.e., vaccines, masking, specific impacts on the economy and education, etc.) and made nodes (shapes containing a description of the concepts). Lastly, they connected their concept nodes with causal links, arrows with descriptive word(s) that explained the causal relationship between the two concept nodes. An example given to PSTs is in Figure 3 which explains that urbanization (node) causes a decrease (causal link between the nodes) in natural habitats (node). The complete causal map for Figure 3 is found in Figure 9 of Appendix C.

#### Figure 3: Example Concept Nodes Connected by a Causal Link



### **Data Analysis**

My dual identities as the instructor of the course and a researcher required me to take a precaution to partition the research and instruction of the course; no data was viewed nor used as analysis towards research until after final grades were submitted for the course. At this time, RStudio (R Core Team, 2020) was used to determine the validity of all data analysis tools above, item response theory for Likert items and Kohen's Cappa for open ended items that were scored. RStudio (R Core Team, 2020) was also used to run linear mixed effects models to assess the three research questions.

*Color-Blind Racial Attitudes Scale – Socioscientific Issues.* Item response theory (IRT) was used to score student responses to the CoBRAS-SSI. IRT was chosen over classical test theory because the latter does not handle variation in item difficulty as scores are generally the sum of the correct response. The primary advantages of IRT scaled scores over classical test theory is that items are weighted based on their discriminating powers, they have more accurate standard errors, scores are on the same scale as item difficulties, and scores can be compared even when the number of items differ (R. J. de Ayala, 2013). IRT models place each test item on a difficulty scale, which is equivalent to the person trait scale, a continuum of the level of the latent variable being measured (e.g., proficiency or level). Theta represents an individual's location on the continuum and delta represents a single item's location on the continuum. An individual's theta can be predicted by how they respond to various items with different delta values along the spectrum. Theta is generally shown as a standardized z-score where a theta of zero is the mean of the latent trait and a theta of 0.85 is nearly 1 standard deviation above the mean. For a dichotomous item, if a person's theta equals the item's difficulty, then there are equal odds of either response. Each item also has a value that identifies how well it can discriminate between individuals with different *thetas*. For Likert type data, the IRT model follows a similar structure with the separation between each response choice having its own values like those of dichotomous items (difficulty and discrimination).

CoBRAS-SSI scaled scores were calculated using the mirt package (Chalmers, 2012). The mirt package was chosen because it provides the statistical equations used to create IRT scores utilizing the Bayes estimation scaled scores method (Embretson & Reise, 2013).

*Quantitative Assessment of Socio-Scientific Reasoning.* The QuASSR-SJ is an open response measure, so student responses were scored using the QuASSR-oe2 scoring rubric (Appendix B, Womack, 2019). I was the co-scorer for the validation of this rubric during Womack's (2019) dissertation. We established a Cohen's Kapa of 0.88,

indicating near perfect agreement. Considering my prior established inter-rater reliability using this rubric, it was not necessary for the current study to reestablish this measure with another researcher.

*Casual Map.* The rubric for scoring causal maps was developed in collaboration with Dr. Laura Zangori and can be found in Appendix C. The rubric considers four aspects: type of racism included (if any), science explanation, complexity of social consideration by type (e.g., education, political, racial, etc.), causal reasoning, and systems reasonings. The type of racism item was coded as nominal data and included: racial privilege, institutional discrimination, blatant racism, environmental racism, vague, and none. All other items were scored on an ordinal four-point scale.

Inter-rater reliability (IRR) was established through co-coding with S. Otto, a fellow graduate student. From our co-coding, I calculated the consistency of the rubric. We performed multiple iterations of blind scoring of a random subset of causal maps. After each round, IRR was calculated, discrepancies were flagged, and raters discussed these discrepancies with the purpose of altering the rubric for better validity. Once an IRR of 0.875 was reached, indicating almost perfect agreement (Landis & Koch, 1977), I scored the remaining causal maps.

### Linear Mixed-Effects Regression Modeling

Table 2 is an outline of data sources and data analysis methods for each research question. As an exploratory design, power analysis was not performed, as the study attempted to assess the possibility of a causal relationship between the outcomes and the intervention, and I was willing to make a type II error in my attempt at this -

accepting the null hypothesis when it should be rejected.

### Table 2: Data Information

Research	Data Source(s)	Analysis Strategy
Question		
RQ1	Pre-CoBRAS-SSI Post-CoBRAS-SSI	Linear Mixed Effects Model
RQ2	Pre-QuASSR-SJ Post-QuASSR-SJ	Linear Mixed Effects Model
RQ3	Pre-Causal Map Post-Causal Map Pre-CoBRAS-SSI Pre-QuASSR-SJ	<ul> <li>Linear Mixed Effects Model</li> <li>Summary Statistics</li> <li>Exemplars</li> </ul>

The primary statistical analysis method chosen for all three research questions is Linear Mixed-Effects Regression Models (LMER; Bates et al., 2015). LMER is an extension of linear regression that allows random effects in addition to the normal fixed effects of linear regression. Random effects are introduced in the model when values within a grouping variable (PSTs in this case) are allowed to vary with regards to their intercept (PSTs' start position), slope (PSTs' growth), or both intercept and slope. LMER is especially useful when data violate the assumption of independence for linear regression models, for example, in longitudinal studies an individual's scores are not independent from one another because the scores represent the same individual. Allowing individuals to vary with regards to their intercept and/or slope (random effects) solves the violation of independence by inserting individual models within the regression model that accounts for all individuals, fixed effects.

For each research question, time (level one) was nested within individuals (level two). The ImerTest package (Kuznetsova et al., 2017) with the Imer() function was used to create the models within R (R Core Team, 2020) for all analyses. Each model implemented a single random effect, the intercept, while keeping slopes fixed. Slopes were not added as a random effect (not allowed to vary by individual) because LMER models require more values within level one (time points in this case) than the number of random effects. This created a linear regression for each PST where they were allowed to have different intercepts, or starting positions, but were required to have the same slopes, or growth over time. Equation 1 shows an intercept LMER model where the  $\beta$  coefficients are the fixed effects, the *b* coefficient is the random effect,  $\epsilon$  is the error term, the *i* subscripts index the level two variable (individual), and the *j* subscripts index the level one variable (time).

Equation 1: Generic Random Intercept LMER Model

$$Y_{ij} = \beta_0 + \beta_1(X_{ij}) + b_{0i} + \epsilon_{ij}$$

The following overviews each research question with its corresponding LMER model equation. Beyond what is shown in the following equations, demographic data

(gender, race/ethnicity, and location where PST grew up) was also included as a predictor in each equation to control for potential group differences. All variables of interest, except time, were standardized to account for differences in scales, making the output easier to interpret. The standardization of the scores to z-scores results in a mean of zero and a standard deviation of one.

**Research Question 1:** Equation 2 was created to assess how preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies (CB) changed while using an SSI unit across a semester (TIME). The hypothesis for research question one was that there was a statistically significant (p<0.05) decrease in preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies while using an SSI unit across the semester.

Equation 2: Colorblind Ideology LMER Model

$$CB_{ij} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 (TIME_{ij}) + \beta_{0i} + \epsilon_{ij}$$

**Research Question 2:** Equation 3 was created to assess how preservice teachers' socioscientific reasoning skills (SSR) change while using an SSI unit across a semester (TIME). The hypothesis for research question two was that there was a statistically significant (p<0.05) increase in preservice teachers' socioscientific reasoning while using an SSI unit across the semester.

Equation 3: Socioscientific Reasoning LMER Model

$$SSR_{ij} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 (TIME_{ij}) + b_{0i} + \epsilon_{ij}$$
67

**Research Question 3:** This research question was evaluated through two different equations. Equation 4 was created to assess how preservice teachers' sociopolitical consciousness (SPC) with regards to the COVID-19 pandemic change while using an SSI unit across a semester (TIME). The hypothesis for this aspect of research question three was that there was a statistically significant (p<0.05) increase in preservice teachers' sociopolitical consciousness while using an SSI unit across the semester.

Equation 4: Sociopolitical Consciousness LMER Model

$$SPC_{ij} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 (TIME_{ij}) + b_{0i} + \epsilon_{ij}$$

Equation 5 was created to further assess how preservice teachers' initial socioscientific reasoning components, initial colorblind ideologies factor scores, and time predict sociopolitical consciousness across the semester (TIME). SSR components include complexity (comp), perspectives taking (pers), inquiry (inq), skepticism or the nature of science (skep<sub>nos</sub>), skepticism of media (skep<sub>media</sub>), and affordances (aff) and limitations (lim) of science. The colorblind factors include unawareness of racial privilege (priv), unawareness of institutional discrimination (inst), unawareness to blatant racial issues (blat), unawareness of environmental racism (envi). The hypothesis for this aspect of research question three was that some of the components of SSR and/or the colorblind ideology factor scores statistically significantly predicted (*p*<0.05) preservice teachers' sociopolitical consciousness scores, with a negative relationship between colorblind ideologies and sociopolitical consciousness.

Equation 5: Sociopolitical Consciousness LMER Model

$$SPC_{ij} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 (TIME_{ij}) + \beta_2 (lim_{ij}) + \beta_3 (aff_{ij}) + \beta_4 (skep_{nos_{ij}}) + \beta_5 (skep_{media_{ij}}) + \beta_6 (inq_{ij}) + \beta_7 (comp_{ij}) + \beta_8 (pers_{ij}) + \beta_9 (priv_{ij}) + \beta_{10} (inst_{ij}) + \beta_{11} (blat_{ij}) + \beta_{12} (envi_{ij}) + b_{0i} + \epsilon_{ij}$$

Once the models were created and outputs completed, diagnostics were done on all analysis. Residuals were used to check linearity, examined for outliers, assessed normality, examined influential observations, and checked the assumption of homogeneity. Additionally, multicollinearity was assessed. No violations of the assumptions for LMER were found for any of the models.

#### **Chapter Four: Results**

The analysis reveals the extent to which the hypotheses for each research question was supported or not supported. Showing how preservice teachers grew or did not grow through the semester with respects to their colorblind ideologies, socioscientific reasoning, and sociopolitical consciousness. The analysis also attempts to look at how preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies and socioscientific reasoning predicts an individual's sociopolitical consciousness.

### Did Preservice Teachers' Colorblind Ideologies Change?

The results of LMER models predictions on how preservice colorblind ideologies changed over the semester are in Table 3 through Table 7. Table 3 predicts preservice teacher's total colorblind ideology scores. This model indicates that there was no statistically significant difference of preservice teacher's total colorblind ideologies scores over time (p>0.05). This finding does not support the hypothesis that colorblind ideologies would decrease from pre- to post-intervention. Table 3: LMER Results for Change in Total Colorblind Ideology Scores Across the

Total Colorblind Ideology Score				
Predictors	Estimates 95%		р	
		Confidence		
		Interval		
Intercept	0.05	-0.43 – 0.52	0.85	
Time	0.00	-0.23 – 0.23	0.99	
Random Effects				
$\sigma^2$	0.32			
τ <sub>00</sub>	0.73 id			
ICC	0.69			
Ν	51 id			
Observations	100			
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.72			

While the results for the total colorblind ideology scores over time are not surprising, further LMER models were run to show that this lack of change over time in the total score was not due to offsetting increases and decreases in the individual component scores within the CoBRAS (for example if PSTs decreased in their unawareness of structural racism and increased in their unawareness of racial privilege creating a net zero change). A model was run to test if each of the four components of the CoBRAS (unawareness of racial privilege, institutional discrimination, blatant racial discrimination, and environmental racism) changed over the semester. The estimate for the model predicting change in unawareness of racial privilege (Table 4) was nearly zero (-0.01 standard deviation) and not statistically significant (p>0.05) indicating that the PSTs did not change in their unawareness of racial privilege. The estimates for the models predicting change in unawareness of racial privilege. The estimates for the blatant racism (Table 6) were positive (0.08 and 0.09 standard deviations respectively) indicating that PSTs actually increased in their colorblind ideologies with respect to these factors. However, these increases were not statistically significant (p>0.05), meaning they were likely due to chance. The estimate for the model predicting change in unawareness of environmental racism (Table 7) shows a reduction (-0.13 standard deviation) in the colorblindness of this component for preservice teachers over time; however, this was also not statistically significant (p>0.05).

Table 4: LMER Results for Change in Unawareness of Racial Privilege ScoresAcross the Semester

Unawareness of Racial Privilege				
Predictors	Estimates	95%	p	
		Confidence		
		Interval		
Intercept	0.11	-0.34 – 0.55	0.63	
Time	-0.01	-0.21 - 0.18	0.88	
Random Effects				
σ²	0.24			
τ <sub>00</sub>	0.80 id			
ICC	0.77			
Ν	51 id			
Observations	100			
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.79			

Table 5: LMER Results for Change in Unawareness of Institutional Discrimination

Scores Across the Semester

Unawareness of Institutional Discrimination			
Predictors	Estimates	95%	p
		Confidence	
		Interval	
Intercept	-0.01	-0.48 – 0.46	0.96
Time	0.08	-0.15 – 0.31	0.48
Random Effects			
$\sigma^2$	0.32		
τ <sub>00</sub>	0.68 id		
ICC	0.68		
Ν	51 id		
Observations	100		
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.71		

 Table 6: LMER Results for Change in Unawareness of Blatant Racial Issues Scores

Across the Semester

Unawareness of Blatant Racial Issues				
Predictors	Estimates 95%		p	
		Confidence		
		Interval		
Intercept	-0.12	-0.66 – 0.42	0.66	
Time	0.09	-0.20 – 0.39	0.55	
Random Effects				
$\sigma^2$	0.55			
τ <sub>00</sub>	0.53 <sub>id</sub>			
ICC	0.49			
Ν	51 id			
Observations	100			
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.51			

Table 7: LMER Results for Change in Unawareness of Environmental Racism

Unawareness of Environmental Racism				
Predictors	Estimates	95%	p	
		Confidence		
		Interval		
Intercept	0.16	-0.35 – 0.67	0.54	
Time	-0.13	-0.41 - 0.14	0.34	
Random Effects				
$\sigma^2$	0.48			
τ <sub>00</sub>	0.50 id			
ICC	0.51			
Ν	51 id			
Observations	100			
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.57			

### Did Preservice Teachers' Socioscientific Reasoning Change?

The results of LMER models predicting how preservice socioscientific reasoning (SSR) changed over the semester are presented in Table 8-Table 15. Predictions on how preservice teacher's total SSR change over the semester can be seen in Table 8. The estimate for time in this model indicates a 0.14 standard deviation increase; indicating that PSTs' socioscientific reasoning skills increased over the semester, but this estimate is not statistically significant (p>0.05). This finding does not support the hypothesis that SSR increased from pre- to post-intervention.

Table 8: LMER Results for Change in Total Socioscientific Reasoning Scores Across

the Semester	th	ie	Se	m	es	ter
--------------	----	----	----	---	----	-----

Total Socioscientific Reasoning Score				
Predictors	Estimates	95%	p	
		Confidence		
		Interval		
Intercept	-0.08	-0.63 – 0.48	0.78	
Time	0.14	-0.18 – 0.46	0.38	
Random Effects				
σ <sup>2</sup>	0.6			
τ <sub>00</sub>	0.36 id			
ICC	0.38			
Ν	51 id			
Observations	96			
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.45			

Six additional models were run to predict each of the SSR component scores over time (Table 9-Table 15). However, two of these models, complexity (Table 9) and limitations of science (Table 15), were not able to fit the random effects portion of the LMER model due to nominal variation in the small number of participants. Instead, a one tailed paired t-test was used to see if scores at the end of the course were larger than scores at the beginning. Results for complexity, inquiry, perspective taking, skepticism in science, skepticism in media, and affordances of science indicate that there was no change over time for these SSR components (p>0.05). The only SSR component that showed growth from pre to post were preservice teachers' limitations of science scores. The one tailed paired t-test results (Table 15) indicate that the increase of 0.55 points from pre to post for limitation of science scores was statistically significant (p<0.05).

Table 9: One Tailed Paired T-Test Results for Change in Complexity Scores Across

the Semester

Complexity				
Mean	95%	p		
Difference	Confidence			
	Interval			
0.13	> -0.36	0.33		

# Table 10: LMER Results for Change in Inquiry Scores Across the Semester

Inquiry				
Predictors	Estimates	95%	p	
		Confidence		
		Interval		
Intercept	0.01	-0.53 – 0.55	0.98	
Time	0.17	-0.14 - 0.48	0.28	
Random Effects				
$\sigma^2$	0.57			
τ <sub>00</sub>	0.34 <sub>id</sub>			
ICC	0.37			
Ν	51 <sub>id</sub>			
Observations	96			
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.48			

Table 11: LMER Results for Change in Perspective Taking Scores Across the

### Semester

Perspective Taking			
Predictors	Estimates	95%	p
		Confidence	
		Interval	
Intercept	0.34	-0.25 – 0.92	0.26
Time	-0.13	-0.48 - 0.23	0.48
Random Effects			
$\sigma^2$	0.75		
τ	0.18 id		
ICC	0.19		
Ν	51 <sub>id</sub>		
Observations	96		
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.31		

Table 12: LMER Results for Change in Skepticism of Media Scores Across the

# Semester

Skepticism of Media			
Predictors	Estimates	95%	p
		Confidence	
		Interval	
Intercept	0.08	-0.48 – 0.64	0.78
Time	-0.02	-0.35 – 0.31	0.91
Random Effects			
$\sigma^2$	0.63		
τ <sub>00</sub>	0.34 id		
ICC	0.35		
Ν	51 id		
Observations	96		
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.42		

Table 13: LMER Results for Change in Skepticism of Science Scores Across the

# Semester

Skepticism of Science			
Predictors	Estimates	95%	p
		Confidence	
		Interval	
Intercept	-0.04	-0.64 – 0.56	0.90
Time	-0.01	-0.37 – 0.34	0.94
Random Effects			
$\sigma^2$	0.74		
τ <sub>00</sub>	0.32 id		
ICC	0.30		
Ν	51 id		
Observations	96		
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.33		

Table 14: LMER Results for Change in Affordances of Science Scores Across the

#### Semester

Affordances of Science			
Predictors	Estimates	95%	p
		Confidence	
		Interval	
Intercept	0.26	-0.34 – 0.86	0.39
Time	-0.22	-0.58 – 0.14	0.22
Random Effects			
$\sigma^2$	0.78		
τ <sub>00</sub>	0.17 id		
ICC	0.18		
Ν	51 id		
Observations	96		
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.29		

 Table 15: One Tailed Paired T-Test Results for Change in Limitations of Science

Scores Across the Semester

Limitations of Science		
Mean	95%	p
Difference	Confidence	
	Interval	
0.56	> 0.24	0.002

### Did Preservice Teachers' Sociopolitical Consciousness Change?

The results of the LMER model used to predict preservice teachers' sociopolitical consciousness scores as measured by their causal maps is presented in Table 16. The results show a statistically significant (p<0.05) increase of 0.30 standard deviations over the course. While these findings support the hypothesis that preservice teachers' sociopolitical consciousness scores would increase from pre- to post-intervention, there are some important caveats that come with this finding.

Table 16: LMER Results for Change in Sociopolitical Consciousness Causal MapScores Across the Semester

Sociopolitical Consciousness Causal Map Score			
Predictors	Estimates	95%	p
		Confidence	
		Interval	
Intercept	-0.28	-0.80 – 0.24	0.29
Time	0.30	0.02 – 0.59	0.04
Random Effects			
σ²	0.52		
τ	0.45		
ICC	0.47		
Ν	50		
Observations	100		
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.54		

While this change is statistically significant, it is minimal. Of the 50 students that completed pre- and post-causal maps, only 14 (28%) included racial justice considerations. Figure 4 shows how these 14 PSTs changed through the course of the semester. The highest score these 14 PSTs received was a 2 on the 3-point scoring rubric This suggests that they never considered how to mitigate these issues as this was required to score a 3; however, they did identify them in vague ways. As seen in Table 17, PSTs were vague in their inclusion of racial justice considerations such as merely mentioning the Black Lives Matter movement without context as seen in Figure 5 or only considered blatant racism such as, physical violence on Asian Americans as seen in Figure 6. The few PSTs that did include considerations of institutional discrimination, environmental racism, or structural racism, did so without considering how changes might be made to reduce such racism. For example, in Figure 7, one PST identified how "minorities" received less health care treatment and suffered from higher transmission rates and deaths due to COVID-19, but never considered how to lower transmission rates or increase health care treatment to these groups.

Of the 14 PSTs that included race, 5 maintained the same sociopolitical score from pre to post, 7 increased from pre to post, and 2 lowered their score by removing their racial considerations from pre to post. For example, PST 14 stated that there is "Different Impacts on racial groups" due to COVID-19 on their pre-causal map, and on the post-causal map, they replaced this statement with "Impacts all people" (Figure 8), a common retort to the Black Lives Matter movement.





Racial Justice Issue	Pre-Causal Map	Post-Causal Map
None	43	38
Vague	5	5
Blatant Racism	2	4
Institutional Discrimination	0	3

Table 17: Summary of Types of Racial Justice Issues Included in PSTs' Causal Maps





Figure 6: PST 41's Post-Causal Map



Figure 7: PST 30's Post-Causal Map



Figure 8: PST 14's Pre and Post Causal Map Comparison



#### Can Preservice Teachers' Change in Sociopolitical Consciousness be Predicted?

The statistical output of the LMER model (Equation 5) that was created to assess if the components of the QuASSR-SJ and the CoBRAS-SSI predicted PSTs' sociopolitical consciousness scores are presented in Table 18. The results indicate that only one item across both instruments significantly predicted the PSTs sociopolitical consciousness. There is a statistically significant (p<0.05) relationship between the PSTs' SSR taking perspectives scores and PSTs' sociopolitical consciousness scores. As the perspective score increased by 1 standard deviation, sociopolitical consciousness increased by 0.44 standard deviations. This indicates that students that are better at considering others' perspectives also have greater sociopolitical consciousness. The estimate for time shows an increase of 0.25 standard deviations across the semester. However, adding the each of the individual components from QuASSR-SJ and CoBRAS-SSI as predictive variables caused time to lose its statistical significance (p>0.05). It is possible that the loss of statistical significance in change over time is due to the small sample size of the study. These finding partially support the hypothesis that sociopolitical consciousness can be predicted from SRR component scores and/or colorblind ideology factor scores.

Table 18: LMER Results for Change in Sociopolitical Consciousness Causal Map ScoresAcross the Semester; Predicted by Pre-SSR Component Scores and Pre-ColorblindIdeology Component Scores

Sociopolitical Consciousness Causal Map Score			
Predictors	Estimates 95% p		p
		Confidence	
		Interval	
Intercept	-0.05	-1.08 – 0.99	0.93
Time	0.25	-0.02 – 0.52	0.07
Limitations of Science	-0.06	-0.34 – 0.21	0.66
Affordances of Science	0.22	-0.08 – 0.52	0.14
Skepticism in Science	-0.18	-0.46 – 0.09	0.19
Skepticism in Media	-0.13	-0.46 - 0.20	0.42
Inquiry	-0.06	-0.38 – 0.25	0.69
Perspectives	0.47	0.18 – 0.77	0.00
Privilege	0.44	-0.12 - 1.00	0.12
Institutional	-0.11	-0.54 – 0.32	0.61
Blatant	-0.16	-0.57 – 0.25	0.44
Environmental	-0.24 -0.76 - 0.28 0.36		0.36
Random Effects	·		
$\sigma^2$	0.45		
τ <sub>00</sub>	0.39 <sub>id</sub>		
ICC	0.46		
Ν	49 <sub>id</sub>		
Observations	98		
Conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.62		

### Does Change in Sociopolitical Consciousness Transfer to Another Socioscientific Issue?

Similar to the models predicting PSTs' complexity (Table 9) and limitations of science (Table 15), a LMER model for change in the inclusion of race as a consideration in PSTs' responses to the QuASSR-SJ was not able to fit the random effects portion of the model. This was due to nominal variation in the small number of participants. Instead, a one tailed paired t-test was used to see if scores at the end of the course

were larger than scores at the beginning. The results of this test (Table 19) show that scores did not change from pre to post, indicating that the minimal increase in sociopolitical consciousness was limited to the SSI of COVID-19 and did not transfer to the novel question regarding West Arlington Fracking SSI.

Table 19: One Tailed Paired T-Test Results for Change in PSTs' Inclusion of Race as a Considerations in QuASSR-SJ

Inclusion of Race as a Considerations in		
QuASSR-SJ Responses		
Mean	95%	p
Difference	Confidence	
	Interval	
0.022	> -0.04	0.28

### Summary

This analysis indicated that little to no change occurred in PSTs' colorblind ideology scores nor socioscientific reasoning scores. However, some increases in sociopolitical consciousness scores with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic were apparent. These changes only occurred in a small portion of the PST's studied and were largely superficial as they mostly identified blatant (e.g., violence against Asian Americans) or vague racial issues (e.g., adding Black Live Matter into their causal map with no meaningful connections) and rarely considered more complex concepts like structural racism. Additionally, none of the PSTs considered ways to mediate or resolve racial justice issues despite the causal map prompt asking PSTs to consider how to resolve/mediate the SSI.

#### **Chapter Five: Discussion**

### **Summary of Findings**

This study shows that elementary preservice teachers did not change their colorblind ideologies through a semester long science methods course that focused on teaching science through socioscientific issues that highlight the inequities that structural racism creates. The PSTs' combined colorblind ideology scores did not change from pre to post measures nor did their pre to post scores of specific components within the CoBRAS-SSI (privilege, institutional, blatant, & environmental). In addition, their combined socioscientific reasoning (SSR) scores did not change which also indicates that their reasoning about these issues did not grow in complexity. The only SSR component that showed growth was PSTs understandings of the limitations of science, which indicate that PSTs changed in the way they think about how science is limited in resolving global issues, such as COVID-19.

Of the three main constructs of interests in this study (colorblind ideology, socioscientific reasoning, and sociopolitical consciousness), only PSTs' sociopolitical consciousness increased throughout the semester. However, the increases only occurred in a small number of PSTs and were mostly vague and simple, such as listing Black Lives Matter as a social consideration without explication or explanation with how it fits in with the larger issue. Most notably, no PST in this study included mediation factors for racial justice issues, despite the specific prompt within the causal map assignment asking them to approach the causal map as someone trying to resolve the issue for all individuals.

To further understand the change in PSTs sociopolitical consciousness with regards to the COVID-19 pandemic, I ran a statistical model that predicted sociopolitical consciousness scores using individual components of the CoBRAS-SSJ and the QuASSR as predictors. This model found that PSTs' perspectives scores from the QuASSR was the only item with a statistically significant prediction of PSTs' sociopolitical consciousness. Finally, the minimal increase in sociopolitical consciousness scores was only associated with COVID-19 causal maps and was not found in the QuASSR-SJ, indicating that increases in sociopolitical consciousness were not transferable to other issues within this study.

### A Lack of Change in Preservice Teacher's Colorblind Ideologies

Reducing colorblind ideologies is an important step in preparing preservice teachers to teach in culturally responsive ways, as colorblind ideologies are one of the primary barriers to this type of teaching (Castro, 2010; Sleeter, 2008). However, doing so has proved a difficult undertaking. Some studies have found statistically significant change in individuals' colorblind ideologies through interventions ranging from less than a week to one school year using the CoBRAS tool (Bañales et al., 2021; Coivin-Burque et al., 2007; Neville et al., 2014; Robey & Dickter, 2022; Spanierman et al., 2008). However, the effect sizes of these studies were low as they used large samples and only saw small changes in CoBRAS scores. Long-lasting and meaningful change, such as seen within a large effect size likely only occurs after long term multiprong approaches, if at all (e.g., experiences with diverse others, multi-course interventions, and personal reflection - all of which is heavily mediated by participants' past experiences; Castro, 2010).

Of the factors within the CoBRAS-SSI, unawareness of environmental racism was of most interest in this study and it did show the greatest decrease, although not statistically significant. Overall, the current study failed to find a statistically significant change in PST's colorblind ideologies as measured by the CoBRAS instrument. This is not consistent with other pre-post studies using the CoBRAS; however, it is consistent with how difficult and long it takes to change teachers' beliefs (Bryan, 2012; Castro, 2010). In addition, prior work that used the CoBRAS had larger sample sizes allowing them to find smaller changes in colorblind ideologies as statistically significant. These small changes were generally measured directly following an intervention, making it impossible to know if these changes are long term and meaningful (i.e., resulting in actual changes to the systems and structures producing inequities). Given these findings, it is likely that with a larger sample size the decrease in unawareness of environmental racism seen in this study of -0.13 standard deviations would be statistically significant. However, to determine if these changes were long term and meaningful, the PSTs should be retested at different time points after their science methods course was over (such as during student teaching and again during their first teaching years).

Therefore, recommendation for future work include larger samples sizes and focus on the impacts of the interventions in the long term and what is needed to sustain

these decreases in individuals' colorblind ideologies. For example, even though one PSTs spoke with me about her annoyance of having to learn about racism in so many of her classes, it might be possible that many interventions coordinated across multiple methods courses throughout the teacher education program can "chip away" at individual's colorblindness.

### A Lack of Change in Preservice Teacher's Socioscientific Reasoning Skills

A teacher's own ability to reason through socioscientific issues is necessary if they are going to teach these skills to their students. However, as seen in this study and others, increasing preservice teacher's socioscientific reasoning skills is not a simple task that can be completed in a short period of time. Not seeing a change in SSR over a relatively short intervention (9 weeks) aligns with past research. Romine and colleagues (2017) found no significant change in SSR after a short intervention of one week. Sadler and Klosterman (2011) found that students' understandings of content improved but not SSR during a three-week intervention. Only after a longer twelve-week intervention with a primary focus of increasing students SSR did Cansiz (2014) find significant change in preservice teacher's SSR skills. These results are not surprising because much like the issues that SSR is used to resolve, SSR is a complex construct. It has roots in an individuals' moral, ethical, and political ideologies (Romine et al., 2017).

While the overall SSR scores of the PSTs in this study did not show a statistically significant change, their understanding of the limitations of science did. This measure increased 0.56 points on a 5-point scale. The change is interesting, as the course did not

focus on this specifically and, unfortunately, data was not collected that could illuminate the reasons for the change in PST's understanding of the limitations of science. Only conjectures can be made.

A possible driving factor for this change was the PSTs own experience with and reflections of their experiences with the COVID-19 pandemic. Throughout the semester they would have seen little day-to-day change within their personal burdens due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Until the vaccine became available in February 2021, they only saw science as the culprit of the disruptions to their personal lives (e.g., not being able to socialize during their time at college; attending classes online). Additionally, the apparent increased understanding of the limitations of science might be an increased mistrust of science which was proliferated on social media and some news outlets (e.g., Fox News). Finally, and most regrettably, students may have experienced early on that science could not or did not save the life of a loved one due to COVID-19.

#### An Increase in Preservice Teacher's Sociopolitical Consciousness

Another barrier for teachers to enact culturally relevant teaching is a lack of sociopolitical consciousness. There is scant research that looks at the development of preservice teachers' sociopolitical consciousness, as sociopolitical consciousness overall is understudied (Jones & Taylor, 2022). Literature searches did not reveal research that focused on sociopolitical consciousness with regards to SSIs and social justice. Most research in this area focused on empowering students and current teachers of color (Jackson & Knight-Manuel, 2019; Ngo et al., 2017; Watts & Hipolito-Delgado, 2015). One

study that focused on new White teachers found that the teachers were able to develop a deeper understanding of structural racism and showed ability and willingness to be agents of change (Zion et al., 2015). While the specifics of how this was done are not straightforward, there are some tangible differences between the current study and the study by Zion and colleagues (2015). Most notably, the authors studied participants that were actively teaching in an urban middle school and who chose to participate in a yearlong course on how to support their own students' sociopolitical consciousness. Additionally, this study took place over a period that was twice as long as the current study, further underscoring how long it takes to make any changes to constructs that are so deeply held as sociopolitical consciousness.

Reviewing PSTs' sociopolitical consciousness scores revealed a clear limitation in their thinking about social justice. While their average score saw a statistically significant increase from an average of 0.20 to 0.40 on a 4-point scale, this increase still places PSTs average scores on the very low end of the scale and includes no PSTs scoring a 4. PSTs in this study failed to reach a level of sociopolitical consciousness that showed a complex understanding of the issue and any attempt to consider how to mitigate the issue. The levels of sociopolitical consciousness in this study align with Watts and colleges (1999) stages of sociopolitical development. These stages of sociopolitical development include 1) an unawareness, unwillingness, or justification of social inequalities, 2) awareness of social inequalities with the believe the system cannot be changed, 3) awareness of social inequalities and questioning the structural causes, 4) a desire to learn more and a conclusion that the social inequalities are unjust and change is required, 5) the individual acts on their beliefs to bring the required changes to fruition.

While the current study found statistically significant change in PST's sociopolitical consciousness of COVID-19, none of the students reached Watts' highest level. Most PSTs in this study showed signs of egocentrism in their causal maps, only considering social aspects that were impacting them (e.g., education and their social life), despite being asked in the causal map prompt to consider other's perspectives and the courses focus on the racism highlighted by COVID-19. Moving past one's own egocentrism is something that Watts does not highlight within his own levels and appears to be another important step in the progress toward the development of an individual's sociopolitical consciousness. Beyond their egocentrism, these PSTs largely come from rural and likely conservative backgrounds where there has been a noticeable "anti-wokeism" movement (Woke being the colloquial term for sociopolitical consciousness) ranging from social media posts to state laws like "Stop WOKE" act in Florida (Greg Allen, 2022; Pete Schroeder, 2022)

PSTs beginning to understand structural racism is a step in the right direction, but it is only the start of a long journey toward becoming agents of change. Without a higher level of sociopolitical consciousness exhibited by these PSTs, once they become teachers, they are unlikely to enact culturally relevant teaching within their practice. This will continue the slow progress within science education of the culturally relevant education movement. Unfortunately, this is not likely remedied by altering a single

science methods course in a teacher education program. The lack of statistically significant improvement seen in this study suggests that an interwoven multicourse and multiyear approach may be necessary to increase PSTs' sociopolitical consciousness and the likelihood they take up culturally responsive educational practices.

### Predicting Preservice Teachers' Sociopolitical Consciousness

Many PSTs scored high on the CoBRAS; however, it is evident that these high scores did not equate to or predict higher sociopolitical consciousness scores. This is likely an indication that PSTs were responding to the CoBRAS in socially desirable ways what they interpreted that I, as their instructor, wanted to hear and/or how they interpret society expects them to respond. Self-reported surveys like the CoBRAS have known issues when dealing with behaviors or thoughts that are not socially desirable. Survey takers do not want to report what they think can be interpreted as a negative image of themselves (Gnambs & Kaspar, 2015).

CoBRAS might not be the best tool to understand an individual's colorblind ideology as is because it is self-reported and this study failed to use a social desirability indicator to adjust for this (a limitation of the study). Future research using the CoBRAS should implement strategies to address social desirability bias through direct reduction of bias (e.g., anonymous responses, statements in the introduction, etc.), indirect reduction (e.g., modifying questions to make the answers to seem more neutral, using card-sorting, etc.), and ways to measure and control for bias through statistical approaches (Larson, 2019). Beyond mere self-reported data, additional data should also

be collected. One such data collection method could include something like the Equity Quantified in Participation (EQUIP) observation tool (Reinholz & Shah, 2018) that collects data on how often teachers call on students of different demographics to look for disparities in the teacher's actions. Another useful data collection method would include interviews to gain a deeper understanding of preservice teachers' colorblind ideologies.

#### Summary

While results of this study are discouraging regarding PSTs colorblind ideologies and sociopolitical consciousness, the finding connecting socioscientific reasoning and sociopolitical consciousness was encouraging. Prior research has not defined if and how SSR and SPC are linked. While this study found a small connection between the two constructs, there are promising possibilities for future research in this vein. This work also shows the promise of using SSR and SPC to support one another within the SSI-SJ. Embedding this within methods coursework in cross curricular fashion such as between science and social studies classes provides enhanced opportunities for PSTs to investigate contentious issues, gaining an understanding of the science and social considerations at play.

In addition, the connection between SSR and SPC provides evidence that SSI instruction can be a useful tool to challenge individuals' understandings and potentially their willingness to act on social justice issues. The constructs leverage each other as they both pull from similar political, moral, and ethical ideologies. However, as the roots
of these constructs imply and as others have reported within SSI and social justice research, promoting the skills and ideologies needed to make a meaningful difference in the world is a challenging and a long-term process, one that cannot be done with a single unit that covers only one sliver of one dimension of social justice.

# Limitations

Firstly, the small sample size (*n* = 51) limited the ability of statistical models to find statistical significance. A lack of statistical significance does not necessarily mean there was no change from pre to post. PSTs changes within measured variable may have occurred; however, the small sample size created conditions in which the change was undetected as more than just by chance alone (Waigandt & Wang, 2010). Second, the intervention and data collection were completed online in the Fall of 2020 during the COVID-19 pandemic. The nature of pandemic (shutdowns, limited access to friends and family) limited any potential impacts of the intervention and likely caused issues with assessing the PSTs due to their own personal constraints due to the pandemic.

These limitations included the online environment which created difficulties for both me and the PSTs to develop a classroom community that we experience in a faceto-face classroom. Without this community, it was difficult to create an environment in which we could engage in critical discussions about race and inequities and respond thoughtfully and truthfully. Conducting an online intervention in these circumstances may have allowed participants to more easily disconnect and recede from discussions that were likely uncomfortable for them. Conducting this intervention now, after the

95

pandemic, in an in-person format, may provide opportunities to create a space that would provide for more meaningful and open discussions.

Third, there were my own limitations as an instructor. This was my first attempt at teaching elementary science methods online and teaching about racial justice. I often felt unsure and lacked confidence, especially teaching students online that I had never met in person.

# Conclusion

The elementary environment is one that promotes integration, as elementary teachers are generalists prepared to teach all content areas. Yet, within elementary teacher preparation, content areas are not integrated, thus making it difficult for elementary teachers to see how the content areas are connected. As shown within this study implications for elementary teacher education include breaking down the partitions between curricular subjects and treating education as a wholistic endeavor, one that more closely mirrors the real world, the SSI-SJ, and the elementary classroom. More specifically, science teacher educators should challenge themselves and include social justice considerations in their teaching, especially when teaching through SSI as many, if not most, highlight the racial disparities created by structural racism.

Given the findings of this study, future research should further investigate the connection between SSR and sociopolitical consciousness. This could be accomplished through implementing a combined science and social studies methods course that utilizes the SSI-SJ framework. Data collection should build on the self-reported surveys

96

used here and include a social desirability scale to adjust for response bias as well as qualitative data analysis such as interviews and classroom discussions. Additionally, adding qualitative data would also support further enhancement of the the SSI-SJ framework to create a better balance between social studies and science.

In conclusion, this pre-experimental design study highlights the promise of the Socioscientific Issues Teaching and Learning for Social Justice (SSI-SJ) framework. The SSI-SJ framework is the first teaching framework to connect teaching science through socioscientific issues and social justice. While the current study found increases in PSTs understanding of the racism that is highlighted by the COVID-19 pandemic, it seemingly did not impact their understanding of how to act. However, as we know with myriad other studies, such increases require long term multifaceted approaches. The SSI-SJ provides one facet for science education to use in the endeavor to build scientific literacy for social justice.

#### References

- Adams, P. E., & Krockover, G. H. (1997). Concerns and perceptions of beginning secondary science and mathematics teachers. *Science Education*, *81*(1), 29–50. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-237X(199701)81:1<29::AID-SCE2>3.0.CO;2-3
- Aldana, A., Rowley, S. J., Checkoway, B., & Richards-Schuster, K. (2012). Raising Ethnic-Racial Consciousness: The Relationship Between Intergroup Dialogues and
   Adolescents' Ethnic-Racial Identity and Racism Awareness. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 45(1), 120–137. https://doi.org/10.1080/10665684.2012.641863
- Ali, N., & Islam, F. (2020). The Effects of Air Pollution on COVID-19 Infection and Mortality—A Review on Recent Evidence. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *8*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.580057
- Amos, R., Knippels, M.-C., & Levinson, R. (2020). Socio-Scientific Inquiry-Based Learning: Possibilities and Challenges for Teacher Education. In *Science Teacher Education for Responsible Citizenship* (pp. 41–61). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40229-7\_4
- Aronson, B., & Laughter, J. (2016). The Theory and Practice of Culturally Relevant Education: A Synthesis of Research Across Content Areas. *Review of Educational Research*, *86*(1), 163–206. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654315582066
- Ashley Lopez, Shalina Chatlani, & Sean McMinn. (2021). *COVID-19 Vaccination Sites More Common In Whiter Neighborhoods, NPR Finds: Consider This from NPR*. NPR: Consider This. https://www.npr.org/2021/02/08/965325107/whos-gettingvaccinated-and-who-isnt-npr-analysis-finds-stark-racial-divide

- Bañales, J., Hudson Banks, K., & Burke, M. A. (2021). The impact of a diversity intervention on White college students' colour-blind racial attitudes. *Whiteness and Education*, *6*(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/23793406.2020.1867480
- Banks, J. A. (2016). *Cultural diversity and education: Foundations, curriculum and teaching* (6th ed.). Routledge.
- Barab, S. A., Sadler, T. D., Heiselt, C., Hickey, D., & Zuiker, S. (2007). Relating Narrative,
  Inquiry, and Inscriptions: Supporting Consequential Play. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, *16*(1), 59–82. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-0069033-3
- Barrett, S. E., & Nieswandt, M. (2010). Teaching about ethics through socioscientific issues in physics and chemistry: Teacher candidates' beliefs. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(4), 380–401. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20343
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B., & Walker, S. (2015). Fitting Linear Mixed-Effects Models Using Ime4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1).

https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01

- Bell, M. L., & Ebisu, K. (2012). Environmental Inequality in Exposures to Airborne Particulate Matter Components in the United States. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 120(12), 1699–1704. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1205201
- Bencze, J. L., & Sperling, E. R. (2012). Student Teachers as Advocates for Student-Led Research-Informed Socioscientific Activism. *Canadian Journal of Science*,

*Mathematics and Technology Education*, *12*(1), 62–85.

https://doi.org/10.1080/14926156.2012.649054

- Bennett, J. S. (2019). Fostering relational trust to engage white teachers and researchers on reflections of race, power, and oppression. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 86, 102896. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2019.102896
- Bollin, G. G., & Finkel, J. (1995). White Racial Identity as a Barrier to Understanding
  Diversity: A Study of Preservice Teachers. *Equity & Excellence in Education*, 28(1),
  25–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/1066568950280105

Bonilla-Silva, E. (2014). Racism without Racists: Color-Blind Racism and the Persistance of Racial Inequality in America (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Ed.;
4th ed.). Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, Inc.

https://www.cambridge.org/core/product/identifier/CBO9781107415324A009/typ e/book\_part

Borgerding, L. A., & Dagistan, M. (2018). Preservice science teachers' concerns and approaches for teaching socioscientific and controversial issues. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, *29*(4), 283–306.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1046560X.2018.1440860

Bowman, N. A. (2010). College diversity experiences and cognitive development: A meta-analysis. *Review of Educational Research*, *80*(1), 4–33.

https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543093524

- Brandt, A. M. (1978). Racism and Research: The Case of the Tuskegee Syphilis Study. *The Hastings Center Report*, *8*(6), 21. https://doi.org/10.2307/3561468
- Bransford, J., Derry, S., Berliner, D., Hammerness, K., & Beckett, K. L. (2005). Theories of Learning and Their Roles in Teaching. In L. Darling-Hammond & J. Bransford (Eds.), *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World* (pp. 39–86). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Brown, J. C. (2017). A metasynthesis of the complementarity of culturally responsive and inquiry-based science education in K-12 settings: Implications for advancing equitable science teaching and learning. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 54(9), 1143–1173. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21401
- Brozo, W. G., Valerio, P. C., & Salazar, M. M. (1996). A walk through Gracie's garden: Literacy and cultural explorations in a Mexican American junior high school. *Journal* of Adolescent & Adult Literacy, 40(3), 164–170.
- Bryan, L. A. (2012). Research on Science Teacher Beliefs. In *Second International Handbook of Science Education* (pp. 477–495). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-9041-7 33
- Bryant, B., & Mohai, P. (2019). Race And The Incidence Of Environmental Hazards : A
  Time For Discourse. Routledge.
  https://proxy.mul.missouri.edu/login?url=https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx

?direct=true&db=edsebk&AN=2177312&site=eds-live&scope=site

Bui, Y. N., & Fagan, Y. M. (2013). The Effects of an Integrated Reading Comprehension Strategy: A Culturally Responsive Teaching Approach for Fifth-Grade Students' Reading Comprehension. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth, 57*(2), 59–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/1045988X.2012.664581

- Bullard, R. D. (2018). Dumping in Dixie. In *Dumping in Dixie: Race, Class, and Environmental Quality, Third Edition* (Third). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429495274
- Bybee, R. W. (1997). Achieving scientific literacy: From purposes to practices. Heinemann Education Books, Inc.
- Bybee, R. W., Taylor, J. a, Gardner, a, Scotter, P. v, Powell, J. C., Westbrook, a, & Landes, N. (2006). The BSCS 5E Instructional Model: Origins, Effectiveness, and Applications. *Bscs*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Cansiz, N. (2014). Developing Preservice Science Teachers' Socioscientific Reasoning through Socioscientific issues-based course [Thesis]. Middle East Technical University.
- Castro, A. J. (2010). Themes in the research on preservice teachers' views of cultural diversity: Implications for researching millennial preservice teachers. *Educational Researcher*, *39*(3), 198–210. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X10363819
- Castro, A. J. (2014). Visionaries, Reformers, Saviors, and Opportunists: Visions and Metaphors for Teaching in the Urban Schools. *Education and Urban Society*, *46*(1), 135–160. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124512448671

CDC. (2021a). Risk for COVID-19 Infection, Hospitalization, and Death By Race/Ethnicity. https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-

discovery/hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html

CDC. (2021b). What is Health Equity?

https://www.cdc.gov/healthequity/whatis/?CDC\_AA\_refVal=https%3A%2F%2Fww w.cdc.gov%2Fcoronavirus%2F2019-ncov%2Fcommunity%2Fhealth-equity%2Fraceethnicity.html

- Chalmers, R. P. (2012). mirt: A Multidimensional Item Response Theory Package for the R Environment. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 48(6). https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v048.i06
- Choi, Y. (2013). Teaching Social Studies for Newcomer English Language Learners: Toward Culturally Relevant Pedagogy. *Multicultural Perspectives*, *15*(1), 12–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/15210960.2013.754640
- Christianakis, M. (2011). Hybrid Texts: Fifth Graders, Rap Music, and Writing. Urban Education, 46(5), 1131–1168. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085911400326
- Cohen, R., Zafrani, E., & Yarden, A. (2020). Science Teachers as Proponents of Socio-Scientific Inquiry-Based Learning: From Professional Development to Classroom Enactment. In *Science Teacher Education for Responsible Citizenship* (pp. 117–132). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40229-7\_8
- Coivin-Burque, A., Zugazaga, C. B., & Davis-Maye, D. (2007). Can Cultural Competence be Taught? Evaluating the Impact of the SOAP Model.

- Conrad, N. K., Gong, Y., Sipp, L., & Wright, L. (2003). Using Text Talk as a Gateway to Culturally Responsive Teaching. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, *31*(3), 187–192. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:ECEJ.0000012137.43147.af
- Corbie-Smith, G. (1999). The Continuing Legacy of the Tuskegee Syphilis Study: Considerations for Clinical Investigation. *The American Journal of the Medical Sciences*, *317*(1), 5–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0002-9629(15)40464-1
- Crawford, B. A. (2007). Learning to teach science as inquiry in the rough and tumble of practice. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *44*(4), 613–642. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20157
- Darling-Hammond, L., Banks, J., Zumwalt, K., Gomez, L., Sherin, M. G., Griesdorn, J., & Finn, L.-E. (2005). Educational Goals and Purposes: Developing a Curricular Vision for Teaching. In L. Darling-Hammond & J. Bransford (Eds.), *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World* (pp. 168–200). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Dawson, V. M., & Venville, G. (2010). Teaching Strategies for Developing Students' Argumentation Skills About Socioscientific Issues in High School Genetics. *Research in Science Education*, *40*(2), 133–148. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-008-9104-y
- Dessel, A., Rogge, M. E., & Garlington, S. B. (2006). Using intergroup dialogue to promote social justice and change. *Social Work*, *51*(4), 303–315. https://doi.org/10.1093/sw/51.4.303
- Diangelo, R. (2012). Understanding & Dismantling Privilege Nothing to add: A Challenge to White Silence in Racial Discussions Robin DiAngelo. II(I).

- DiAngelo, R. J. (2018). White Fragility: Why It's So Hard for White People to Talk about Racism. Beacon Press. https://books.google.com/books?id=abZdDwAAQBAJ
- Dolan, T. J., Bryan Nichols, F. H., & Zeidler, D. L. (2009). Using Socioscientific Issues in Primary Classrooms. *Journal of Elementary Science Education*, *21*(3), 1–12.

Dover, A. G. (2013). Teaching for Social Justice: From Conceptual Frameworks to Classroom Practices. *Multicultural Perspectives*, *15*(1), 3–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/15210960.2013.754285

- Duncan-Andrade, J. (2007). Gangstas, Wankstas, and Ridas: defining, developing, and supporting effective teachers in urban schools. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education*, 20(6), 617–638. https://doi.org/10.1080/09518390701630767
- Duschl, R., Osborne, J., Fairbrother, R., Duschl, R., & Fairbrother, R. (2002). *Breaking the Mould ? Teaching Science for Public Understanding*. Nuffield Foundation. https://doi.org/10.1038/35065254

Elizabeth Allemann, & Traci Wilson-Kleekamp. (2020). *Racial Disparities Highlighted by Coronavirus*. Community Pulse.

https://communitypulse.transistor.fm/episodes/community-pulse-wednesdayapril-29th

Embretson, S. E., & Reise, S. P. (2013). *Item Response Theory*. Psychology Press. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781410605269

- Epstein, T., Mayorga, E., & Nelson, J. (2011). Teaching about race in an urban history class: The effects of culturally responsive teaching. *The Journal of Social Studies Research*, *35*(1), 2–21.
- Evagorou, M., & Dillon, J. (2020). Introduction: Socio-scientific Issues as Promoting Responsible Citizenship and the Relevance of Science. In *Science Teacher Education for Responsible Citizenship* (pp. 1–11). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40229-7\_1
- Evagorou, M., Guven, D., & Mugaloglu, E. (2014). Preparing Elementary and Secondary Pre-Service Teachers for Everyday Science. *Science Education International*, *25*(1), 68–78.
- Evagorou, M., Jimenez-Aleixandre, M. P., & Osborne, J. (2012). 'Should We Kill the Grey Squirrels?' A Study Exploring Students' Justifications and Decision-Making. *International Journal of Science Education*, *34*(3), 401–428.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2011.619211

- Evagorou, M., & Puig Mauriz, B. (2017). Engaging Elementary School Pre-service Teachers in Modeling a Socioscientific Issue as a Way to Help Them Appreciate the Social Aspects of Science. *International Journal of Education in Mathematics, Science and Technology*, 5(1), 113. https://doi.org/10.18404/ijemst.99074
- Feger, M.-V. (2006). "I want to read": How Culturally Relevant Texts Increase Student Engagement in Reading. *Multicultural Education*, 18–19.

Ferguson, R. (2008). If multicultural science education standards' existed, what would they look like? *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 19(6), 547–564. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10972-008-9108-5

- Fletcher, S. S., & Luft, J. A. (2011). Early career secondary science teachers: A longitudinal study of beliefs in relation to field experiences. *Science Education*, 95(6), 1124–1146. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.20450
- Forbes, C. T., & Davis, E. A. (2008). Exploring preservice elementary teachers' critique and adaptation of science curriculum materials in respect to socioscientific issues.
   *Science & Education*, *17*(8–9), 829–854. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-007-9080-
- Foulk, J. A. (2019). *Pre-service science teachers' beliefs related to teaching and learning with socio-scientific issues* [Dissertation]. University of Missouri.
- Fowler, S. R., Zeidler, D. L., & Sadler, T. D. (2009). Moral sensitivity in the context of socioscientific issues in high school science students. *International Journal of Science Education*, 31(2), 279–296. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500690701787909
- Frey, B. B. (2018). The SAGE Encyclopedia of Educational Research, Measurement, and Evaluation. SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781506326139

Friedrichsen, P. J., Sadler, T. D., & Zangori, L. A. (2020). Supporting Teachers in the Design and Enactment of Socio-Scientific Issue-Based Teaching in the USA. In Science Teacher Education for Responsible Citizenship (pp. 85–99). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40229-7 6

- Furman, M., Taylor, I., Luzuriaga, M., & Podestá, M. E. (2020). Getting Ready to Work with Socio-Scientific Issues in the Classroom: A Study with Argentine Teachers. In Science Teacher Education for Responsible Citizenship (pp. 133–151). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40229-7 9
- Garg, S., Kim, L., Whitaker, M., O'Halloran, A., Cummings, C., Holstein, R., Prill, M., Chai,
  S. J., Kirley, P. D., Alden, N. B., Kawasaki, B., Yousey-Hindes, K., Niccolai, L.,
  Anderson, E. J., Openo, K. P., Weigel, A., Monroe, M. L., Ryan, P., Henderson, J., ...
  Fry, A. (2020). Hospitalization Rates and Characteristics of Patients Hospitalized
  with Laboratory-Confirmed Coronavirus Disease 2019 COVID-NET, 14 States,
  March 1–30, 2020. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 69*(15), 458–
  464. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6915e3
- Garrido Espeja, A., & Couso, D. (2020). Introducing Model-Based Instruction for SSI Teaching in Primary Pre-service Teacher Education. In *Science Teacher Education for Responsible Citizenship* (pp. 153–171). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40229-7\_10
- Gay, G. (2002). Preparing for Culturally Responsive Teaching. Journal of Teacher Education, 53(2), 106–116. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487102053002003
  Gene Demby. (2021). A Shot In The Dark : Code Switch. NPR.

https://www.npr.org/transcripts/968359504

Genel, A., & Topçu, M. S. (2016). Turkish preservice science teachers' socioscientific issues-based teaching practices in middle school science classrooms. *Research in* 

*Science and Technological Education*, *34*(1), 105–123.

https://doi.org/10.1080/02635143.2015.1124847

- Gnambs, T., & Kaspar, K. (2015). Disclosure of sensitive behaviors across selfadministered survey modes: a meta-analysis. *Behavior Research Methods*, *47*(4), 1237–1259. https://doi.org/10.3758/s13428-014-0533-4
- Goode, J., Johnson, S. R., & Sundstrom, K. (2020). Disrupting colorblind teacher
  education in computer science. *Professional Development in Education*, 46(2), 354–
  367. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2018.1550102
- Graves, J. L. (2003). The Emperor's New Clothes: Biological Theories of Race at the Millennium. Rutgers University Press.

https://books.google.com/books?id=TXv7KfkomI8C

- Greg Allen. (2022). Florida Gov. DeSantis takes aim at what he sees as indoctrination in schools. National Public Radio.
- Gul, M. D., & Akcay, H. (2019). Structuring a New Socioscientific Issues (SSI) Based
   Instruction Model: Impacts on Pre-service Science Teachers' (PSTs) Critical Thinking
   Skills and Dispositions. International Journal of Research in Education and Science,
   6(1), 141. https://doi.org/10.46328/ijres.v6i1.785
- Hammerness, K., Darling-Hammond, L., Bransford, J., Berliner, D., Cochran-Smith, M.,
  McDonald, M., & Zeichner, K. (2005). How Teachers Learn and Develop. In L.
  Darling-Hammond & J. Bransford (Eds.), *Preparing Teachers for a Changing World* (pp. 357–389). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.

- Hancock, T. S., Friedrichsen, P. J., Kinslow, A. T., & Sadler, T. D. (2019). Selecting Socioscientific Issues for Teaching. *Science & Education*, 28(6–7), 639–667. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-019-00065-x
- Harlan, S. L., Brazel, A. J., Jenerette, G. D., Jones, N. S., Larsen, L., Prashad, L., & Stefanov, W. L. (2015). *In the shade of affluence: the inequitable distribution of the urban heat island* (pp. 173–202). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0196-1152(07)15005-5
- Hefflin, B. R. (2002). Learning to develop culturally relevant pedagogy: A lesson about cornrowed lives. *Urban Review*, *34*(3), 231–250.

https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1020603323594

Heinze, P. (2008). Let's Talk About Race, Baby. *Multicultural Education*.

- Herman, B. C. (2018). Students' environmental NOS views, compassion, intent, and action: Impact of place-based socioscientific issues instruction. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, *55*(4), 600–638. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21433
- Herman, B. C., Owens, D. C., Oertli, R. T., Zangori, L. A., & Newton, M. H. (2019).
  Exploring the complexity of students' scientific explanations and associated nature of science views within a place-based socioscientific issue context. *Science & Education*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-019-00034-4

Horowitz, J. M., Brown, A., & Cox, K. (2019). Race in America 2019 (Issue April).

Hurtado, S., Engberg, M. E., Ponjuan, L., & Landreman, L. (2002). Students' precollege preparation for participation in a diverse democracy. *Research in Higher Education*, 43(2), 163–186. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1014467607253 Hussar, B., Zhang, J., Hein, S., Wang, K., Roberts, A., Cui, J., Smith, M., Bullock Mann, F., Barmer, A., & Dilig, R. (2020). *The condition of education 2020* (p. 316). National Center for Education Statistics.

https://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch/pubsinfo.asp?pubid=2020144

Jackson, I., & Knight-Manuel, M. (2019). "Color Does Not Equal Consciousness": Educators of Color Learning to Enact a Sociopolitical Consciousness. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 70(1), 65–78. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487118783189

- Joe Pinsker. (2020). *The Coronavirus Pandemic Will Cleave America in Two*. The Atlantic. https://www.theatlantic.com/family/archive/2020/04/two-pandemics-uscoronavirus-inequality/609622/
- Jonassen, D. H., & Strobel, J. (2006). Modeling for Meaningful Learning. In M. S. Hung David and Khine (Ed.), *Engaged Learning with Emerging Technologies* (Vol. 3). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/1-4020-3669-8 1
- Jones, B. L., & Taylor, J. C. (2022). Within the walls of the classroom: How science teachers' instruction can develop students' sociopolitical consciousness. *Science Education*, *106*(5), 1021–1031. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21727
- Justi, R., & Mendonça, P. C. C. (2016). Discussion of the Controversy Concerning a Historical Event Among Pre-service Teachers. *Science & Education*, *25*(7–8), 795– 822. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-016-9846-2

- Kara, Y. (2012). Pre-service biology teachers' perceptions on the instruction of socioscientific issues in the curriculum. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 35(1), 111–129. https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2011.633999
- Karışan, D., Yılmaz Tüzün, Ö., & Zeidler, D. L. (2017). Quality of preservice teachers argumentation in socioscientific issues context. *Journal of Human Sciences*, 14(4), 3504. https://doi.org/10.14687/jhs.v14i4.4949
- Kelly Mcevers. (2020). Arizona, North Carolina Cases Rise; Masks Make A Difference : Consider This from NPR. NPR.

https://www.npr.org/2020/06/11/874605765/masks-are-even-more-importantthan-we-thought

- Kendi, I. X. (2019). *How to Be an Antiracist*. Random House Publishing Group. https://books.google.com/books?id=6pNbDwAAQBAJ
- Kim, M., Anthony, R., & Blades, D. (2014). Decision Making Through Dialogue: a Case Study of Analyzing Preservice Teachers' Argumentation on Socioscientific Issues. *Research in Science Education*, 44(6), 903–926. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-014-9407-0
- Kinslow, A. T. (2018). THE DEVELOPMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION OF A HEURISTIC FOR TEACHING REFLECTIVE SCIENTIFIC SKEPTICISM WITHIN A SOCIO- SCIENTIFIC ISSUE INSTRUCTIONAL FRAMEWORK.

- Kinslow, A. T., Sadler, T. D., & Nguyen, H. T. (2019). Socio-scientific reasoning and environmental literacy in a field-based ecology class. *Environmental Education Research*, 25(3), 388–410. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2018.1442418
- Klosterman, M. L., Sadler, T. D., & Brown, J. C. (2012). Science Teachers' Use of Mass Media to Address Socio-Scientific and Sustainability Issues. *Research in Science Education*, 42(1), 51–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-011-9256-z
- Kolstø, S. D., Bungum, B., Arnesen, E., Isnes, A., Kristensen, T., Mathiassen, K., Mestad,
  I., Quale, A., Tonning, A. S. V., & Ulvik, M. (2006). Science students' critical
  examination of scientific information related to socioscientific issues. *Science Education*, 90(4), 632–655. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.20133
- Kuhn, D. (1993). Science as argument: Implications for teaching and learning scientific thinking. *Science Education*, 77(3), 319–337.

https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.3730770306

Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P. B., & Christensen, R. H. B. (2017). ImerTest Package: Tests in Linear Mixed Effects Models. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 82(13).

https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v082.i13

Ladson-Billings, G. (1995a). But that's just good teaching! The case for culturally relevant pedagogy. *Theory Into Practice*, *34*(3), 159–165. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405849509543675 Ladson-Billings, G. (1995b). Toward a Theory of Culturally Relevant Pedagogy. *American Educational Research Journal*, *32*(3), 465–491.

https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312032003465

- Landis, J. R., & Koch, G. G. (1977). The Measurement of Observer Agreement for Categorical Data. *Biometrics*, *33*(1), 159. https://doi.org/10.2307/2529310
- Larson, R. B. (2019). Controlling Social Desirability Bias. *International Journal of Market Research*, *61*(5), 534–547. https://doi.org/10.1177/1470785318805305
- Lawrence, J. (2000). The Indian Health Service and the Sterilization of Native American Women. *American Indian Quarterly*, *24*(3), 400–419.
- Lawrence, S. M., & Bunche, T. (1996). Feeling and dealing: Teaching white students about racial privilege. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *12*(5), 531–542. https://doi.org/10.1016/0742-051X(95)00054-N
- Lee, H., Abd-El-Khalick, F., & Choi, K. (2006). Korean science teachers' perceptions of the introduction of socio-scientific issues into the science curriculum. *Canadian Journal* of Science, Mathematics and Technology Education, 6(2), 97–117. https://doi.org/10.1080/14926150609556691
- Lee, H., & Witz, K. G. (2009). Science Teachers' Inspiration for Teaching Socio-scientific Issues: Disconnection with reform efforts. *International Journal of Science Education*, 31(7), 931–960. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500690801898903
- Lee, H., Yoo, J., Choi, K., Kim, S. W., Krajcik, J., Herman, B. C., & Zeidler, D. L. (2013). Socioscientific Issues as a Vehicle for Promoting Character and Values for Global

Citizens. International Journal of Science Education, 35(12), 2079–2113.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2012.749546

- Leung, J. S. C., Wong, K. L., & Chan, K. K. H. (2020). Pre-service Secondary Science
   Teachers' Beliefs About Teaching Socio-scientific Issues. In *Science Teacher Education for Responsible Citizenship* (pp. 21–39). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3 030-40229-7 3
- Luft, J. A., & Patterson, N. C. (2002). Bridging the Gap: Supporting Beginning Science Teachers. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, *13*(4), 267–282. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022518815872
- Martell, C. C. (2013). Race and Histories: Examining Culturally Relevant Teaching in the U.S. History Classroom. *Theory & Research in Social Education*, *41*(1), 65–88. https://doi.org/10.1080/00933104.2013.755745
- McDiarmid, G. W. (1992). What to Do about Differences? A Study of Multicultural Education for Teacher Trainees in the Los Angeles Unified School District. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *43*(2), 83–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487192043002002
- McMinn, S., Carlsen, A., Jaspers, B., Talbot, R., & Adeline, S. (2020, May 17). COVID-19
   Racial Disparities Could Be Worsened By Location Of Test Sites : Shots Health
   News : NPR. National Public Radio. https://www.npr.org/sections/health shots/2020/05/27/862215848/across-texas-black-and-hispanic-neighborhoods have-fewer-coronavirus-testing-sit

- Mensah, F. M. (2011). A case for culturally relevant teaching in science education and lessons learned for teacher education. *Journal of Negro Education*, 80(3), 296–309. https://www.jstor.org/stable/41341135
- Michael Barbaro. (2020). *The Pandemic Economy in 7 Numbers: The Daily*. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/11/19/podcasts/the-daily/coronaviruspandemic-us-economy-unemployment.html?showTranscript=1
- Milner, H. R. (2003). Teacher Reflection and Race in Cultural Contexts: History, Meanings, and Methods in Teaching. *Theory Into Practice*, *42*(3), 173–180. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15430421tip4203\_2
- Milner, H. R. (2010). What Does Teacher Education Have to Do With Teaching? Implications for Diversity Studies. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *61*(1–2), 118–131. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487109347670
- Morrell, E., & Duncan-Andrade, J. M. R. (2002). Promoting Academ Literacy with Urban Youth through Engaging Hip-hop culture. *English*, *91*(6), 88–92.
- Narvaez, D., & Hill, P. L. (2010). The Relation of Multicultural Experiences to Moral Judgment and Mindsets. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, *3*(1), 43–55. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018780
- National Research Council. (2012). A Framework for K-12 Science Education: Practices, Crosscutting Concepts, and Core Ideas. In *The Language of Science Education*. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/13165

- Neville, H. A., Lilly, R. L., Duran, G., Lee, R. M., & Browne, L. (2000). Construction and initial validation of the Color-Blind Racial Attitudes Scale (CoBRAS). *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 47(1), 59–70. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0167.47.1.59
- Neville, H. A., Poteat, V. P., Lewis, J. A., & Spanierman, L. B. (2014). Changes in white college students' color-blind racial ideology over 4 years: Do diversity experiences make a difference? *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, *61*(2), 179–190. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035168
- Ngo, B., Lewis, C., & Maloney Leaf, B. (2017). Fostering Sociopolitical Consciousness With Minoritized Youth: Insights From Community-Based Arts Programs. *Review of Research in Education*, *41*(1), 358–380.

https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X17690122

- NGSS Lead States. (2013). *Next Generation Science Standards: For States, By States*. The National Academies Press.
- Nielsen, J. A. (2020). Teachers and Socioscientific Issues An Overview of Recent Empirical Research. In Science Teacher Education for Responsible Citizenship (pp. 13–20). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40229-7\_2
- Nielsen, J. A., Evagorou, M., & Dillon, J. (2020). New Perspectives for Addressing
   Socioscientific Issues in Teacher Education. In *Science Teacher Education for Responsible Citizenship* (pp. 193–199). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40229 7\_12

Nykiel-Herbert, B. (2010). Iraqi Refugee Students: From a Collection of Aliens to a Community of Learners. *Multicultural Education*, *17*(3), 2–14. http://ubc.summon.serialssolutions.com/2.0.0/link/0/eLvHCXMw3V3JTsMwELVok RAXRFnCLp-4VI5CkjoJEoeqShehVqKLQFwqJ3alipCwhAN\_j-04cQvqD3CKnDnEmWePxzPjZwAc27TQL5uAMYswFdQjLeZh7AaUetQnjNjU8YhF1kt 1qrsw9bv APxg3H4YNMdhd9YLQ-nxhaPpROz8u-IoCSliBXHpKba5E5pKmgchkadFiil

- Özden, M. (2015). Prospective elementary school teachers' views about socioscientific issues: A concurrent parallel design study. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 7(3), 333–354.
- Ozturk, N., & Yilmaz-Tuzun, O. (2017). Preservice Science Teachers' Epistemological Beliefs and Informal Reasoning Regarding Socioscientific Issues. *Research in Science Education*, 47(6), 1275–1304. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-016-9548-4
- Peel, A., Zangori, L. A., Friedrichsen, P. J., Hayes, E., & Sadler, T. D. (2019). Students' model-based explanations about natural selection and antibiotic resistance through socio-scientific issues-based learning. *International Journal of Science Education*, 41(4), 510–532. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2018.1564084
- Pete Schroeder. (2022). *How Republican-led states are targeting Wall Street with "anti-woke" laws*. Reuters.
- Pezaro, C., Wright, T., & Gillies, R. (2014). Pre-service primary teachers' argumentation in socioscientific issues. *Proceedings of the Frontiers in Mathematics and Science Education Research Conference*, May, 58–69.

- Pitiporntapin, S., Yutakom, N., & Sadler, T. D. (2016). Thai pre-service science teachers' struggles in using Socio-scientific Issues (SSI) during practicum. *Asia-Pacific Forum on Science Learning and Teaching*, *17*(2), 1–20.
- Pitpiorntapin, S., & Topcu, M. S. (2016). Teaching based on socioscientific issues in science classrooms: A review study. *KKU International Journal of Humanities and Social Sciences*, 6(1), 119–136.
- R Core Team. (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. In *R Foundation for Statistical Computing*. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- R. J. de Ayala. (2013). *The Theory and Practice of Item Response Theory*. Guilford Publications.
- Ramsey, J. (1993). The science education reform movement: Implications for social responsibility. *Science Education*, 77(2), 235–258.

https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.3730770210

- Reinholz, D. L., & Shah, N. (2018). Equity Analytics: A Methodological Approach for
  Quantifying Participation Patterns in Mathematics Classroom Discourse. *Journal for Research in Mathematics Education*, 49(2), 140–177.
  https://doi.org/10.5951/jresematheduc.49.2.0140
- Renzulli, L. A., & Evans, L. (2005). School Choice, Charter Schools, and White Flight. Social Problems, 52(3), 398–418. https://doi.org/10.1525/sp.2005.52.3.398

Roberts, D. A. (2007). Scientific Literacy / Science Literacy. In S. K. Abell & N. G. Lederman (Eds.), *Handbook of Research on Science Education* (pp. 729–780). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.

- Robey, N., & Dickter, C. (2022). Internet-based cultural competence training for White undergraduate students at a predominantly White university. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12881
- Rodriguez, J. L., Jones, E. B., Pang, V. O., & Park, C. (2004). Promoting Academic Achievement and Identity Development Among Diverse High School Students. *The High School Journal*, *87*(3), 44–53. https://doi.org/10.1353/hsj.2004.0002
- Romine, W. L., Sadler, T. D., & Kinslow, A. T. (2017). Assessment of scientific literacy:
  Development and validation of the Quantitative Assessment of Socio-Scientific
  Reasoning (QuASSR). *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 54(2), 274–295.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21368
- Sadler, T. D. (2004a). Moral sensitivity and its contribution to the resolution of socioscientific issues. *Journal of Moral Education*, *33*(3), 339–358.

https://doi.org/10.1080/0305724042000733091

Sadler, T. D. (2004b). Informal reasoning regarding socioscientific issues: A critical review of research. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 41(5), 513–536. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20009

- Sadler, T. D. (2006). Promoting discourse and argumentation in science teacher education. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, *17*(4), 323–346. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10972-006-9025-4
- Sadler, T. D., Amirshokoohi, A., Kazempour, M., & Allspaw, K. M. (2006). Socioscience and Ethics in Science Classrooms: Teacher Perspectives and Strategies. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 43(4), 395–418.
- Sadler, T. D., Barab, S. A., & Scott, B. (2007). What do students gain by engaging in socioscientific inquiry? *Research in Science Education*, *37*(4), 371–391.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s11165-006-9030-9
- Sadler, T. D., Foulk, J. A., & Friedrichsen, P. J. (2016). Evolution of a Model for Socio Scientific Issue Teaching and Learning. *International Journal of Education in Mathematics, Science and Technology*, 5(1), 75.
   https://doi.org/10.18404/ijemst.55999
- Sadler, T. D., Romine, W. L., & Topçu, M. S. (2016). Learning science content through socio-scientific issues-based instruction: a multi-level assessment study. *International Journal of Science Education*, 38(10), 1622–1635.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2016.1204481
- Sadler, T. D., & Zeidler, D. L. (2005). Patterns of informal reasoning in the context of socioscientific decision making. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 42(1), 112–138. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20042

- Sadler, T. D., & Zeidler, D. L. (2009). Scientific literacy, PISA, and socioscientific
   discourse: Assessment for progressive aims of science education. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 46(8), 909–921. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20327
- Sadler Troy D. and Klosterman, M. L. and T. M. S. (2011). Learning Science Content and Socio-scientific Reasoning Through Classroom Explorations of Global Climate Change. In T. D. Sadler (Ed.), *Socio-scientific Issues in the Classroom: Teaching, Learning and Research* (pp. 45–77). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-1159-4 4
- Sheth, M. J. (2019). Grappling with racism as foundational practice of science teaching. Science Education, 103(1), 37–60. https://doi.org/10.1002/sce.21450
- Shoulders, C., & Myers, B. (2013). Socioscientific Issues-based Instruction: An Investigation of Agriscience Students' Content Knowledge based on Student Variables. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *54*(3), 140–156.

https://doi.org/10.5032/jae.2013.03140

Simonneaux, L., & Simonneaux, J. (2009). Students' socio-scientific reasoning on controversies from the viewpoint of education for sustainable development. *Cultural Studies of Science Education*, 4(3), 657–687. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11422-008-9141-x

Sleeter, C. E. (2008). Preparing White teachers for diverse students. In M. Cochran-Smith, S. Feiman-Nemser, & D. J. McIntyre (Eds.), *Handbook of research on teacher education* (3rd ed., pp. 559–582). Routledge and Association of Teacher Educators. Sleeter, C. E. (2017). Critical Race Theory and the Whiteness of Teacher Education. *Urban Education*, *52*(2), 155–169. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085916668957

Spanierman, L. B., Neville, H. A., Liao, H. Y., Hammer, J. H., & Wang, Y. F. (2008).
Participation in Formal and Informal Campus Diversity Experiences: Effects on
Students' Racial Democratic Beliefs. *Journal of Diversity in Higher Education*, 1(2), 108–125. https://doi.org/10.1037/1938-8926.1.2.108

Spencer, M. S., Brown, M., Griffin, S., & Abdullah, S. (2008). Outcome Evaluation of the Intergroup Project. *Small Group Research*, *39*(1), 82–103.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1046496407313416

- Stanton Wortham, & Contreras, M. (2002). Struggling Toward Culturally Relevant Pedagogy in the Latino Diaspora. *Journal of Latinos and Education*, 1(2), 133–144.
- Stovall, D. (2006). We can Relate Hip-Hop Culture, Critical Pedagogy, and the Secondary Classroom. *Urban Education*, *41*(6), 585–602.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085906292513

Stuckey, M., Hofstein, A., Mamlok-Naaman, R., & Eilks, I. (2013). The meaning of 'relevance' in science education and its implications for the science curriculum.
Studies in Science Education, 49(1), 1–34.
https://doi.org/10.1080/03057267.2013.802463

Tate, W. F. (1995). Returning to the Root: A Culturally Relevant Approach to Mathematics Pedagogy. *Theory Into Practice*, *34*(3), 166–173.

Thomas Wildburn, & Richard Harris. (2021). *Simulation: Why You Need High Vaccination Rates To Stop A Pandemic: Shots - Health News*. NPR. https://www.npr.org/sections/health-shots/2021/02/18/967462483/how-herdimmunity-works-and-what-stands-in-its-way?ft=nprml&f=1001

Tidemand, S., & Nielsen, J. A. (2017). The role of socioscientific issues in biology teaching: from the perspective of teachers. *International Journal of Science Education*, *39*(1), 44–61. https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2016.1264644

- Tobin, K. (2015). Environmental Discourses in Science Education. *EcoJustice, Citizen Science and Youth Activism*, *1*, 363–384. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-11608-
- Topçu, M. S., Yilmaz-Tuzun, O., & Sadler, T. D. (2011). Turkish Preservice Science
  Teachers' Informal Reasoning Regarding Socioscientific Issues and the Factors
  Influencing Their Informal Reasoning. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 22(4),
  313–332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10972-010-9221-0
- Venville, G. J., & Dawson, V. M. (2010). The impact of a classroom intervention on grade
  10 students' argumentation skills, informal reasoning, and conceptual
  understanding of science. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 47(8), n/a-n/a.
  https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.20358
- Waigandt, A., & Wang, Z. (2010). An introduction to statistical reasoning in quantitative research.

Washington, H. A. (2006). *Medical Apartheid: The Dark History of Medical Experimentation on Black Americans from Colonial Times to the Present*. Doubleday. https://books.google.com/books?id=q0bMejttqgEC

- Watts, R. J., & Flanagan, C. (2007). Pushing the envelope on youth civic engagement: A developmental and liberation psychology perspective. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 35(6), 779–792. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.20178
- Watts, R. J., Griffith, D. M., & Abdul-Adil, J. (1999). Sociopolitical Development as an Antidote for Oppression-Theory and Action. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, *27*(2), 255–271. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022839818873
- Watts, R. J., & Hipolito-Delgado, C. P. (2015). Thinking Ourselves to Liberation?: Advancing Sociopolitical Action in Critical Consciousness. *The Urban Review*, *47*(5), 847–867. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-015-0341-x
- Westheimer, J., & Kahne, J. (2004). What Kind of Citizen? The Politics of Educating for Democracy. *American Educational Research Journal*, *41*(2), 237–269. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312041002237
- Womack, A. J. (2019). *Development and analysis of a socio-scientific reasoning assessment: Application of computer automated scoring and rasch analysis*. University of Missouri.
- Wu, Y. T., & Tsai, C. C. (2007). High school students' informal reasoning on a socioscientific issue: Qualitative and quantitative analyses. *International Journal of*

*Science Education, 29*(9), 1163–1187.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09500690601083375

- Yerdelen, S., Cansiz, M., Cansiz, N., Promoting, H., Yerdelen, S., Cansiz, M., Cansiz, N., & Akcay, H. (2018). *Promoting Preservice Teachers' Attitudes toward Socioscientific Issues*. https://doi.org/10.21891/jeseh.387465
- Zafrani, E., & Yarden, A. (2017). Becoming a science activist: A case study of students' engagement in a socioscientific project. *Journal of Education*, *5*(3), 44–67.
- Zangori, L. A., Foulk, J., Sadler, T. D., & Peel, A. (2018). Exploring Elementary Teachers' Perceptions and Characterizations of Model-Oriented Issue-Based Teaching. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, *29*(7), 555–577.

https://doi.org/10.1080/1046560X.2018.1482173

- Zangori, L. A., Peel, A., Kinslow, A., Friedrichsen, P., & Sadler, T. D. (2017). Student development of model-based reasoning about carbon cycling and climate change in a socio-scientific issues unit. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 54(10), 1249– 1273. https://doi.org/10.1002/tea.21404
- Bailey, Z. D., Krieger, N., Agénor, M., Graves, J., Linos, N., & Bassett, M. T. (2017). Structural racism and health inequities in the USA: evidence and interventions. *The Lancet*, 389(10077), 1453–1463. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30569-X
- Zeidler, D. L. (2003). *The role of moral reasoning on socioscientific issues and discourse in science education* (D. L. Zeidler, Ed.). Kluwer Academic Publishers.

- Zeidler, D. L., & Keefer, M. (2003). *The role of moral reasoning on socioscientific issues and*.
- Zeidler, D. L., & Nichols, B. H. (2009). Socioscientific issues: Theory and practice. *Journal of Elementary Science Education*, 21(2), 49–58.

https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03173684

Zion, S., Allen, C. D., & Jean, C. (2015). Enacting a Critical Pedagogy, Influencing Teachers' Sociopolitical Development. *Urban Review*, *47*(5), 914–933.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11256-015-0340-y

### Appendix A

#### **Color-Blind Racial Attitudes Scale Scoring Information**

Adapted from (Neville et al., 2000). Modifications to the CoBRAS are in italics. Directions: Below is a set of questions that deal with social issues <u>in the United States</u> (U.S.). Using the 6-point scale, please give your honest rating about the degree to which

you <u>personally</u> agree or disagree with each statement. Please be as open and honest as you can; there are no right or wrong answers. Record your response to the left of each item.

1	2	3	4	5	6
Strongly Disagree				Strongly	/ Agree

# 1. Race plays a critical role in understanding who is impacted the most by natural disasters.

- 2. It is important that people begin to think of themselves as American and not African American, Mexican American or Italian American.
- 3. Due to racial discrimination, programs such as affirmative action are necessary to help create equality.
- 4. Racism is a major problem in the U.S.
- 5. Racial and ethnic minorities are impacted more by socioscientific issues such as climate change, COVID-19, and industrial waste/pollution.
- 6. Race is very important in determining who is successful and who is not.
- 7. Racial inequities should be considered when resolving socioscientific issues.

- 8. Racism may have been a problem in the past, but it is not an important problem today.
- 9. Racial and ethnic minorities do not have the same opportunities as White people in the U.S.
- 10. White people in the U.S. are discriminated against because of the color their skin.
- 11. Talking about racial issues causes unnecessary tension.
- 12. It is important for political leaders to talk about racism to help work through or solve society's problems.
- 13. White people in the U.S. have certain advantages because of the color of their skin.
- 14. Resources to help mitigate or resolve socioscientific issues should be equally distributed regardless of race.
- 15. Immigrants should try to fit into the culture and adopt the values of the U.S.
- 16. English should be the only official language in the U.S.
- 17. Racial minorities are more likely to be negatively impacted (e.g., economically, reduced health, death) due to environmental causes than White people as a result of past and current racism in the U.S.
- 18. White people are more to blame for racial discrimination in the U.S. than racial and ethnic minorities.
- 19. Social policies, such as affirmative action, discriminate unfairly against White people.
- 20. It is important for public schools to teach about the history and contributions of racial and ethnic minorities.

- 21. Racial and ethnic minorities in the U.S. have certain advantages because of the color of their skin.
- 22. People who are negatively impacted by socioscientific issues, no matter what race they are, should move or change their lifestyles to reduce their susceptibility.
- 23. Racial problems in the U.S. are rare, isolated situations.
- 24. Race plays an important role in who gets sent to prison.
- 25. Everyone who works hard, no matter what race they are, has an equal chance to become rich.
- 26. Race plays a major role in the type of social services (such as type of health care or day care) that people receive in the U.S.

The following items (which are bolded above) are reversed score (such that 6 = 1, 5 =

2, 4 = 3, 3 = 4, 2 = 5, 1 = 6): item #1, 3, 4, 6, 7, 9, 12, 13, 17, 18, 20, 24, 26. Higher scores

show greater levels of "blindness", denial, or unawareness.

Factor 1: Unawareness of Racial Privilege consists of the following 7 items: 6, 9, 13, 18, 24, 25, 26,

Factor 2: Unawareness of Institutional Discrimination consists of the following 7 items: 2, 3, 10, 15, 16, 19, 21

Factor 3: Unawareness of Blatant Racial Issues consists of the following 6 items: 4, 8, 11, 12, 20, 23

*Factor 4: Unawareness of Environmental Racism consists of the following 6 items:* 1, 5, 7, 14, 17, 22
#### Appendix B

# Quantitate Assessment of Socio-Scientific Reasoning – Social Justice (QuASSR-SJ): Fracking in Arlington, Texas

Adapted from Romine et al. (2017).

Arlington is a city in Texas west of Dallas. A neighborhood of predominantly Black and Hispanic working-class families in East Arlington is situated near a site where hydraulic fracturing (or "fracking") of natural gas takes place. In fracking, pressurized water mixed with chemicals and particles like sand are forced into layers of shale (a rock composed of sheets of hard mud which lay on top of each other like the pages in a book), opening fractures which allow large amounts of natural gas to be extracted. After cracking the rocks, the liquid then returns to the surface where it is stored in a sealed container or pond, and the sand remains in the cracks to keep them open. Proponents of fracking consider it a breakthrough in the energy industry. Fracking allows extraction of much larger quantities of natural gas than traditional natural gas extraction methods and allows us to tap into reserves that were previously impossible to reach. The oil and gas industry is an important part of Texas' economy, bringing billions of dollars into the state. Total, a French oil and gas company now plans to expand its fracking operation in East Arlington to include three more wells. However, residents of the area, as well as scientists from the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the United States Geology Survey (USGS) who collected the data, point out that fracking in the area is possibly to blame for negative health effects that birth defects and different types of

131

cancer caused by groundwater pollution. The data from these tests go against claims by the drilling industry, which reports that injecting water, sand, and chemicals underground has never led to groundwater contamination. The company denies that the pollution is related to its operations. They cite a similar incident that took place in the Marcellus Shale region of Pennsylvania; similar pollution there was found to be a result of a gas reserve near the resident's water well, and not due to nearby fracking activities. The company also cites the important economic factor of the jobs it provides to the residents of East Arlington. A Concerned Citizens Group are pressuring the city council to not only deny the expansion request but to require Total to scale down the fracking they are currently doing in the area. What should be done about this situation?

1. Imagine that you are in charge of resolving this issue. Would this be a difficult issue to resolve?

A) YES

B) NO

If YES, then: What aspects of this issue make it difficult to resolve? (Please be as detailed as possible) If NO, then: Why do you think this issue is easily resolved? (Please be as detailed as

possible)

2. If you were responsible for deciding how to resolve the fracking issue in Arlington, would you need additional information regarding the situation before making your decision?

A) Yes, I would need to have additional information to make a decision.

B) No, I have sufficient information to make a decision.

If YES, then: What kinds of additional information would be necessary for you to make a decision regarding the fracking issue in Arlington? (*Please be as detailed as possible*) If NO, then: What information would be most important for your decision-making? (*Please be as detailed as possible*)

3. Local leaders met to discuss a solution for the fracking issue in Arlington. The group suggested that Total resumes current operations in the area while additional tests are made to determine the safety of fracking in the area.

3a. How do you think Total would respond to this suggestion? (*Please support your* response with details and/or examples)

3b. How do you think Concerned Citizens Group would respond to this suggestion? (Please support your response with details and/or examples)

4. The local leaders working on this issue ask you to write a report that predicts the most likely outcomes that will result from each potential solution (stopping all fracking in the area, continuing current fracking, or expanding current fracking). The following sources of information are available to you:

Interviews with Total officials & residents of the East Arlington

Social Media, Blog, and Wikipedia posts about the issue

Research studies published in reputable science journals

Are these equally good sources of information for the preparation of your report?

A) YES

B) NO

*If YES, then*: Explain why you think these sources are equally good. Be as specific as possible. (*Please support your response with details and/or examples*)

*If NO, then*: Explain why you think there are differences in the quality of these three sources of information. Be as specific as possible. (*Please support your response with details and/or examples*)

5. A town hall meeting is organized to discuss the fracking in Arlington. The following presentations are given:

A report from scientists hired by the Total Corporation

A report from scientists hired by the Concerned Citizens Group

Would you expect these reports to be similar or different?

*If SIMILAR, then:* Why would the reports be similar? (*Please support your response with details and/or examples*)

If DIFFERENT, then: Why would the reports be different? (Please support your response with details and/or examples)

6. Do you think that scientists can help to resolve the fracking issue? IF Yes, What could scientists do to help resolve the issue? (*Please support your response* with details and/or examples)

IF NO, Why would scientists NOT be helpful for resolving this issue? (*Please support your* response with details and/or examples)

7. Some people think that a full understanding of the science related to the fracking issue will provide the best solution. Others suggest that a solution should be informed by the science as well as other, non-science considerations. What do you think?

- A. The solution to the fracking issue in Arlington should be determined by the science.
- B. The solution to the fracking issue in Arlington should be determined by the science AND other, non-science considerations.

If A, Why should the solution to the fracking issue in Arlington be determined by scientific information? (*Please support your response with details and/or examples*)

If B, What non-science information should be considered in order to determine a good solution for the fracking issue in Arlington? (*Please support your response with details and/or examples*)

## Rubric

SSR	Level				
Component	0	1	2	3	4
Q1	Suggests that	Identifies at	Identifies at	Identifies at	Identifies two
Complexity	the issue is not	least one	least one	least two	or more
	complex or	source of	source of	sources of	sources of
	provides an	complexity.	complexity and	complexity and	complexity and
	illogical		provides a	provides a	provides
	response.		contextual	contextual	contextual
			explanation or	explanation or	explanations or
			justification of	justification for	justifications
			a source	one of those	for at least two
				sources	of those
					sources.
Q2	Suggests that	Identifies an	Identifies at	Identifies at	Identifies Two
Inquiry	no further	area of further	least one area	least two areas	or more areas
	inquiry is	inquiry.	of further	of further	of inquiry and
	required or		inquiry and	inquiry and	provides
	provides an		provides a	provides	contextual
	illogical		contextual	contextual	explanation/ju
	response.		explanation,	explanation,	stification/desc
			justification, or	justification, or	ription for at
			description of	description for	least two.
			an area of	one of those	
			inquiry	areas	

The following rubric is taken from Womack (2019):

Q3	Presents	Presents a	Presents a	Presents	Presents
Perspective	perspectives	perspective	perspective	perspectives	perspectives
Taking	that are NOT	consistent with	consistent with	consistent with	consistent with
	consistent with	a stakeholder	a stakeholder	both	both
	stakeholder	view.	view and	stakeholder	stakeholder
	views		provides a	views and	views and
	Judgment		contextual	provides a	provides a
	answer with no		explanation,	contextual	contextual
	detail (i.e.,		justification, or	explanation,	explanation,
	"they would		elaboration of	justification, or	justification, or
	not like it")		the	elaboration of	elaboration of
			perspective.	one of those	both
				perspectives.	perspectives.
Q4	Suggests that	Identifies one	Identifies one	Identifies two	Identifies two
Media	the sources are	reason for	reason for	reasons for	reasons for
Skepticism	equally good.	differences in	differences in	differences in	differences in
		source quality.	source quality	source quality	source quality
			and provides	and provides	and provides
			an explanation	an explanation	an explanation
			or justification	or justification	or justification
			for the	for one	for both
			difference.	difference.	differences.
Q5	Suggests that	Identifies one	Identifies one	Identifies two	Identifies two
NOS	the reports	way in which	way in which	ways in which	ways in which
Skepticism	would be	the reports	the reports	the reports	the reports
	similar or	would be	would be	would be	would be
	provides an	different.	different and	different and	different and
	illogical		provides an	provides an	provides an
	response.		explanation or	explanation or	explanation or
			justification for	justification for	justification for
			the difference.	one difference.	both
					differences.

Q6	Suggests that	Identifies one	Identifies one	Identifies two	Identifies two
Affordance	science would	way in which	way in which	ways in which	ways in which
of Science	not be helpful	science would	science would	science would	science would
	or provides an	be helpful for	be helpful and	be helpful and	be helpful and
	illogical	issue	provides an	provides an	provides an
	response.	resolution.	explanation or	explanation or	explanation or
			justification.	justification for	justification for
				one.	both.
Q7	Suggests that	Identifies one	Identifies one	Identifies at	Identifies at
Limitations	science alone	non-science	non-science	least two non-	least two non-
of Science	can solve the	consideration.	consideration	science	science
	issue or		and provides	considerations	considerations
	provides an		an explanation	and provides	and provides
	illogical		or description.	an explanation	an explanation
	response.			or description	or description
				for one	for two
				consideration.	considerations.

#### Appendix C

#### **Causal Map Example Given in Class**



Figure 9: Monarch Butterfly SSI Causal Map

### **SSI Causal Map Assessment**

The following prompt was giving to students following a detailed explanation of how to create a causal map.

Over the next half of the course, we will be creating a teaching unit in which we utilize the COVID-19 pandemic as a socioscientific issue (SSI) to teach science practices, concepts, and ideas. Teaching with SSIs also gives us the opportunity to teach other subjects as well. This is important for many reasons (i.e., subjects in "real life" are not compartmentalized like they are in school, it's engaging for students, it develops critical thinking skills, it helps with the issue of not having enough time to teach all the subjects, etc.) However, before we can develop this unit, we need to make sure we understand the complexity of the COVID-19 pandemic. To help you with this, you will create a model that helps explain this complexity. We often call these models, causal maps or concept maps. Before you begin, please review the PowerPoint from class and if you were not able to attend our Zoom call, watch the recorded meeting.

Steps to make your causal map:

- 1. Plan and set perspective
  - Perspective: Someone trying to help reduce the spread of COVID-19
  - What are they interested in representing? Both Science AND Social considerations of the impacts of COVID-19
- 2. Identify Concepts:
  - o Science: Transmission and what steps we take to reduce transmission
  - Social: Generally, this will be impacts from the steps we have taken to reduce the transmission as well as impacts of the disease itself. Plus, anything else you think is pertinent.
- 3. Create the nodes with your concepts inside of them. If needed, add descriptions and/or images to help explain the concept (for example, the butterfly life cycle node in my example)
- 4. Construct links and link concepts (arrows that connect nodes). Recall that these should read like this from node 1 -> node 2; "node 1 is connected/related to node two". Connection will vary. There is a list of common connections on the PowerPoint from class, but you are welcome to use more.

You may use whichever medium you would like to create your causal map (e.g., pencil

and paper, PowerPoint, online concept mapping tool).

## Rubric

Ra	Racial Issue Included (nominal)		
5	Vague		
4	Racial Privilege		
3	Institutional Discrimination		
2	Blatant Racial Issues		
1	Environmental Racism		
0	None		

So	Sociopolitical Consciousness				
4	Consideration consists of multiple nodes that include mitigation(s) and connections				
	between nodes are complex (closed branching or causal loop).				
3	Consideration consists of multiple nodes that include mitigation(s) or connections between				
	nodes are complex (closed branching or causal loop) but only include impacts.				
2	Consideration consists of multiple nodes that are connected linearly or scattered across				
	map.				
1	Consideration consists of single node				
0	Consideration is missing				







Linear

Simple Branching

**Closed Branching** 

Causal Loop

R. Tanner Oertli was born September 10, 1985 to Gerald L. Oertli and Patricia Tully Oertli in Billings, MT. Growing up with his two older sisters, Wendy and Christine; they often spent their weekends on the Tully ranch just outside Roundup, MT. He attended Washington Elementary School, Lewis and Clark Junior High School, and Senior High School. However, it was not until he attended the University of Montana that he discovered his love for science. He earned a bachelor's degree in biology and immediately started teaching at Sentinel High School in Missoula, MT. He ended up teaching Science and Engineering for seven years as well as coaching pole vault for the track team. During this time, he met his wife, Claire. They were married June of 2016. A year later they moved to Columbia, MO to be close to family. Once in Columbia, Tanner began his master's degree in science education at the University of Missouri. During this time, Tanner and Claire were blessed with their first son, Anderson on June 25, 2019. After completing his master's, Tanner immediately began his PhD in science education. During this time, Tanner and Claire were blessed again, with their second son, Crew on January 3, 2022. Throughout his graduate studies, Tanner taught the Elementary Science Methods course at the University of Missouri, worked on research projects, and stayed home with the kids (sometimes even having to teach with a baby wrapped to his chest). Before completing his PhD, Tanner took a job with Columbia Public Schools as a Programmer and Analyst.

Vita